## **Public Policy Research Funding Scheme**

公共政策研究資助計劃

| 2021.A6.173.21B   |  |  |
|---|--|--|
| Evaluation of Impact of Policy Interventions on the Building<br>Information Modelling (BIM) Adoption Status in the Hong<br>Kong Construction Industry: From a Comparative Perspective<br>評估政策介入對香港建造業建築信息模擬技術採用現狀的<br>影響:基於比較研究視角 |  |  |
| Professor LI Heng<br>李恆教授   |  |  |
| The Hong Kong Polytechnic University<br>香港理工大學  |  |  |
| 18  |  |  |
| 409,400.00  |  |  |
|   |  |  |

This research report is uploaded onto the webpage of the Public Policy Research Funding Scheme and Strategic Public Policy Research Funding Scheme for public reference. The views expressed in this report are those of the Research Team of this project and do not represent the views of the Government and/or the Assessment Panel. The Government and/or the Assessment Panel do not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this report.

Please observe the "Intellectual Property Rights & Use of Project Data" as stipulated in the Guidance Notes of the Public Policy Research Funding Scheme and Strategic Public Policy Research Funding Scheme.

A suitable acknowledgement of the funding from the Government should be included in any publication/publicity arising from the work done on a research project funded in whole or in part by the Government.

The English version shall prevail whenever there is any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions.

此研究報告已上載至公共政策研究資助計劃及策略性公共政策研究資助計劃的網 頁,供公眾查閱。報告內所表達的意見純屬本項目研究團隊的意見,並不代表政府及/ 或評審委員會的意見。政府及/或評審委員會不保證報告所載的資料準確無誤。

請遵守公共政策研究資助計劃及策略性公共政策研究資助計劃申請須知內關於「知識產權及項目數據的使用」的規定。

接受政府全數或部分資助的研究項目如因研究工作須出版任何刊物/作任何宣 傳,均須在其中加入適當鳴謝,註明獲政府資助。

中英文版本如有任何歧異、概以英文版本為準。

## PUBLIC POLICY RESEARCH FUNDING SCHEME

## FINAL REPORT

## **Project Title:**

Evaluation of Impact of Policy Interventions on the Building Information Modelling

(BIM) Adoption Status in the Hong Kong Construction Industry: From a Comparative

(English) Perspective

評估政策介入對香港建造業建築信息模擬技術採用現狀的影響:基於比較研究

(Chinese) 視角

Principal Investigator (PI): Professor Li Heng Institution: The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

February 2023

# **Table of Contents**

| Table of Contents 2   |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| List of Figures4  |  |  |  |  |  |
| List of Tables5   |  |  |  |  |  |
| Executive Summary   |  |  |  |  |  |
| I. Abstract of the Research   |  |  |  |  |  |
| II. Layman Summary on Policy Implications and Recommendations12                                       |  |  |  |  |  |
| 1.Introduction18  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2. Theoretical Background and Research Model 25   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2.1 Status Quo of BIM Application and Related Initiatives in the Hong Kong<br>Construction Industry25 |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2.2 The Effect of Policy Intervention on the Performance of Innovation<br>Applications                |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2.3 The Configurational Perspective on the Influencing Factors of BIM Adoption 32                     |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2.3.1 Technological Factor  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2.3.2 Organizational Factors  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2.3.3 Environmental Factors   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2.4 Summary40   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.Exploring the Impact of Mandatory Policy on BIM-Based Project<br>Performance                        |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.1 Research Methodology45  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.1.1 Data Collection45   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.1.2 PSM-DID Approach46  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.1.3 Model Development51   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.2. Empirical Analysis and Results54   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.2.1 PSM Analysis Results54  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.2.2 DID Regression Results  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3.3 Research Findings   |  |  |  |  |  |
| 4.Exploring the Impact of Mandatory Policy on the Organizational<br>Performance                       |  |  |  |  |  |

| 4.1 Research Methodology  |
|---|
| 4.1.1 Data Collection   |
| 4.1.2 Data Measurement  |
| 4.1.3 Data Calibration71  |
| 4.2 Analysis and Results72  |
| 4.2.1 Necessity Analysis  |
| 4.2.2 Sufficiency Analysis 74   |
| 4.3 Research Findings   |
| 4.3.1 Configurations for High BIM Adoption in SMOs  |
| 4.3.2 Configurations for High BIM Adoption in LOs   |
| 4.3.3 Configurations for Low BIM Adoption in SMOs   |
| 4.3.4 Comparative Analysis of the Configurations in SMOs and LOs82  |
| 5.Policy Implications and Recommendations86   |
| 5.1 Formulating Policy Portfolios to Enhance the Adaptability of BIM Policies to the Multiplicity of Institutions in the Regional Construction Industry   |
| 5.2 Formulating Learning Strategies and Establishing Communication Platforms to<br>Promote the Further Diffusion and Implementation of BIM in Hong Kong88 |
| 5.3 Introducing Diversified Supportive Initiatives to Mitigate the Uneven Trend<br>among Different Organizations in BIM Application90                     |
| 5.4 Establishing a Comprehensive Evaluation System to Ensure the Effectiveness of BIM-Related Policies  |
| 6.Conclusions and Effectiveness of the Research Project96   |
| 6.1. Conclusions  |
| 6.2. Effectiveness of the Research Project99  |
| Reference100  |
| Details of the Public Dissemination112  |
| Appendices113   |
| Appendix A. Questionnaire Suvery_Part I115  |
| Appendix B. Questionnaire Suvery_Part II12  |
| Appendix C. Snapshots of Symposium Information125   |

# List of Figures

| Figure 1: Status Quo of BIM Application in the Representative Regions21   |
|---|
| <b>Figure 2</b> Comparison of the Proportion of Projects Utilizing BIM among<br>Surveyed Organizations in Hong Kong, Shanghai, and the UK |
| Figure 3 BIM-Related Policies and Initiatives in Hong Kong26  |
| <b>Figure 4</b> The Research Framework of Quantitative Comparative Analysis on<br>BIM Adoption Behavior                                   |
| Figure 5 Process of Data Collection and the Designated Method44   |
| Figure 6 Kernel Density Curve of Propensity Score Before and After Matching57   |
| Figure 7 Trends of Explained Variables During 2015-2021   |
| <b>Figure 8</b> The Substitution and Suppression Relationships Between Conditions   |
| Figure 9 Evolution of BIM Adoption Rate Distribution by Organization Size87   |
| Figure 10 Evolution of BIM ROI Distribution by Organization Role  |
| Figure 11 Evolution of BIM ROI Distribution by Organization Size  |
| <b>Figure 12</b> Evolution of BIM Subjective Performance Distribution by<br>Organization Role92   |
| <b>Figure 13</b> Evolution of BIM Subjective Performance Distribution by<br>Organization Size   |

# List of Tables

| <b>Table 1.</b> BIM Policies and Adoption Status in Different Regions     19         |
|--|
| <b>Table 2.</b> Demographic Information of Samples  46                               |
| <b>Table 3</b> Results of Common Support Test  55                                    |
| <b>Table 4</b> Balance Test of PSM   |
| <b>Table 5</b> The Impact of the Mandatory Policy on BIM Performance60               |
| <b>Table 6</b> The Results of the Dynamic Effects of Mandatory Policy on BIM         |
| Performance61  |
| <b>Table 7</b> The Results of the Heterogeneity Test  63                             |
| <b>Table 8</b> Demographic Information of Samples  67                                |
| <b>Table 9</b> Descriptive Statistics, Correlations, and Cronbach's Alpha         70 |
| <b>Table 10</b> Calibrations of Variables in SMOs and LOs  72                        |
| <b>Table 11</b> Analysis of Necessary Conditions                                     |
| <b>Table 12</b> Configurational Paths to High BIM Adoption in SMOs and LOs           |
| <b>Table 13</b> Configurational Paths to Low BIM Adoption in SMOs     76             |
| <b>Table 14</b> Summary of the Objectives Achieved in this Research Project          |
| Table 15 Research Outputs  112   |

## **Executive Summary**

#### **I.Abstract of the Research**

#### i. Chinese

基於准自然試驗設和組態設計,本研究旨在採用比較研究視角評估香港地區首個建築 資訊模擬技術(BIM)強制性政策對建造業的影響,並採用組態視角識別和比較導致 BIM 不同的採納率的條件配置及差異。通過對香港地區 2015-2021 年期間 502 家企 業應用 BIM 項目的面板數據的調研,應用傾向得分匹配雙重差分(PSM-DID)方法評 估了政策介入對項目績效的促進效果。同時基於技術-組織-環境(TOE)框架,以 38 家 大型企業(LOs)和 36 家中小型企業(SMOs)為案例,運用模糊集定性比較分析方 法,識別技術、組織、環境條件對不同規模組織 BIM 採納水準的組態效應及其路徑選 擇。本研究形成了多項研究成果,旨在為推動 BIM 技術在香港建造業的擴散及發展提 供政策指導及啟示:

(1) 關於 BIM 強制政策對項目績效的促進效果,基於 PSM-DID 的分析結果表明:① BIM 強制政策有效提升了項目的主觀 BIM 績效和投資回報率,為本地建造業的發展 提供了實質性支援。②動態分析結果顯示,政策介入對項目績效的促進作用隨著時間 的推移逐漸增強,呈現出明顯的動態性。③比較不同類型及規模的企業的 BIM 相關 項目績效,研究表明政策效果的異質性非常顯著。具體而言,針對三類利益相關者, 業主方 BIM 應用項目的績效升幅最高,承包商次之,但政策介入對設計諮詢方的促進 作用並不顯著;針對不同規模的企業,政策介入對大型企業 BIM 應用項目的績效提升 的影響最顯著,中小型企業次之,其中小型企業 BIM 應用項目績效受政策介入的影響 反而出現小幅度下降。以上研究結果表明,BIM 強制政策的推行在促進香港地區建造 業的發展的同時,也在一定程度上加劇了兩極分化,小型企業面臨被邊緣化的風險。

(2) 基於 74 個案例的定性比較分析結果表明:①高 BIM 採納率的必要條件不能由單

一條件構成,而是由技術、組織和環境三方面條件共同作用的結果。②跨案例比較分析結果表明,LOs 同 SMOs 的高 BIM 採納的實現路徑存在明顯差異。相對而言,LOs 中組織高層對於 BIM 應用的支持是實現高 BIM 採納率的重要條件,組織財務能力和 組織自身 BIM 能力對 SMOs 實現高 BIM 採納率更為重要。③ 通過進一步分析組態 條件之間的互動關係發現,在特定情境下,LOs 的組織財務能力和技術感知易用性可 以相互替代;而 SMOs 的組織 BIM 能力在特定情境下能彌補組織在財務能力方面所 面臨的限制。以上研究結果表明,組織的 BIM 採納實踐具有 "多因一果"的特點,構 成高 BIM 採納的條件組態具有多樣性,並在 LOs 和 SMOs 的條件配置方面存在差異 性。

基於上述實證分析結果,本研究提出了四方面的政策建議,以推動 BIM 在香港建造業的全面實施,並給政府及相關機構日後制定策提供多元組合化建議。

#### ii. English

Based on the quasi-natural experiment combined with configuration perspective design, this study aims to evaluate the impact of the first BIM mandatory policy on the Hong Kong construction industry from a comparative lens, further identify and compare the combinations of conditions as well as the difference in conditions that lead to various BIM adoption rate from a configuration perspective.

Using the panel data of BIM-based projects of 502 organizations in Hong Kong during 2015-2021, the propensity score matching-difference in differences (PSM-DID) method is employed to evaluate the promotion effect of policy interventions on project performance. Meanwhile, on the basis of the Technology-Organization-Environment (TOE) framework, this research selects 38 large organizations (LOs) and 36 small and medium-sized organizations (SMOs) as cases to explore the configurational effect of technological, organizational, and environmental conditions on the adoption level of BIM in organizations of different sizes and their path choices by using fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis (fs QCA). Several research findings are obtained from this study, which aims to provide policy guidance and implications to promote the diffusion and advancement of BIM technology in the Hong Kong construction industry.

(1) Regarding the promotion effect of BIM mandatory policy on project performance, the results based on the PSM-DID analysis indicate that (1) BIM mandatory has effectively improved the BIM subjective performance and BIM revenue on investment (ROI) of targeted projects, bringing substantial benefits for the development of the regional construction industry. ② According to the analysis results of the dynamic effect, the promotion effect of the policy intervention on the project performance gradually increases over time, showing explicit dynamics. ③ By comparing the BIM-based project performance across different types and sizes of organizations, this study indicates that the heterogeneity of policy effect is strongly significant. In detail, as for the three kinds of organizations (i.e. owners, design consultants, and contractors), in BIM-based projects, the owner achieves the largest increase in performance improvement, followed by the main contractor. Nevertheless, the promotion effect of the policy intervention on the design consultant is not significant. In terms of organizations of different sizes, policy intervention has the most significant impact on the BIM-based project performance of LOs, followed by SMOs, among which the BIM-based project performance of small organizations shows a slight decline after policy intervention. The research findings above show that while implementing the BIM mandatory policy has promoted the development of the construction industry, it has also exacerbated the

polarization to a certain extent, with small organizations facing the risk of being marginalized.

(2) The results of the qualitative comparative analysis based on 74 cases indicate that (1) a single necessary condition cannot achieve a high BIM adoption rate; instead is the outcome of the configuration effect of technological, organizational, and environmental conditions. The cross-case comparative analysis results show a significant difference between configurational paths that lead to the high BIM adoption in LOs and SMOs. By contrast, the organizational top management support of LOs for BIM application is essential for achieving a high BIM adoption rate. The organizational financial capacity and BIM capability are more critical for SMOs to enhance BIM application practice. ③ Further analysis of the interaction between different conditions suggests that the organizational financial capacity and perceived ease of use of LOs can be substituted for one another in a given situation. In comparison, the organizational BIM capability can make up for the financial constraint faced by SMOs in a specific situation. The above results present that the BIM adoption practices of organizations are characterized by "multiple causes resulting in the same outcome," and the combinations of conditions that result in high BIM adoption are diverse. There are apparent differences in the configurations of LOs and SMOs.

Based on the above empirical results, this study provides several policy implications and proposes some policy recommendations for the government and related organizations on diversified policy portfolios to facilitate the deep application of BIM in the Hong Kong construction industry.

## **II.Layman Summary on Policy Implications and Recommendations**

### i. Chinese

(1)針對建築資訊模擬技術(BIM)強制政策評估的異質性分析表明,BIM 強制政策大幅度提升了大型企業應用 BIM 的項目績效,但在一定程度上限制了小型企業應用 BIM 的行為;與此同時,定性比較分析結果表示,構成大型企業和中小型企業高 BIM 採納率的條件組態存在明顯差異。這意味著現行政策可能並不能覆蓋或使全部企業受惠,具體表現為中小型企業在強制政策的干預下,BIM 應用實踐仍不甚理想。本研究認為,未來有必要繼續擴大 BIM 相關政策的覆蓋範圍,將政策制定的焦點從"項目"適當向"組織"傾斜,根據不同規模的企業及其 BIM 應用實踐和組織特徵制定差異化的政策,並在現有政策基礎上增加激勵和幫扶性政策。具體而言,可以根據本研究識別出的 9 種 BIM 高採納率配置推出一系列組合型政策,以滿足建造業利益主體的差異化需求,進一步完善BIM 應用實踐及提高 BIM 應用項目績效。多管齊下以鼓勵廣泛採用創新建築方法及科技,進一步促進生產力、提高建造質素。

(2)實證結果表明,靈活利用學習槓桿,做好知識的有效管理是促進 BIM 成 功實施的關鍵。針對中小型企業案例的定性比較分析發現,組織的 BIM 能力 可以在特定情況下替代財務能力從而實現 BIM 的高採納率。基於此,為提升 香港地區建造業中 BIM 的應用率,本研究建議政府機構積極開展有關先進建 築科技的課程及活動,強化創新技術知識管理,為相關企業的從業人員提供專 業技術培訓,同時指導企業建立開展內部交流以實現學習成果的有效轉化。政 府亦可以鼓勵企業與本地高校建立合作關係,積極吸納有望投身建造業的專 才。

(3)實證結果亦表明,強制性政策對項目績效的作用在不同利益主體及不同 規模的企業中呈現明显的異質性,對於大型企業和業主企業 BIM 應用實踐的 提升具有明顯促進作用,而對設計咨詢企業及小型企業帶來的積極影響則十分 有限。這可能會加深建造業中不同企業對 BIM 認知的差異以及加劇 BIM 應用 的不平衡趨勢。為緩解該趨勢的負面影響,消除現時業界對 BIM 應用的障礙, 本研究建議政府可以通過建立交流平臺及鼓勵合作機制以培養、支援建造業中 創新應用相對落後的企業的 BIM 應用能力。一方面,本研究建議政府可以通 過建立 BIM 交流平臺,鼓勵擁有成熟 BIM 應用實踐經驗的建築及工程業界專 業人士分享經驗,展示 BIM 應用的實踐成果,以強化現階段較為落後的企業 對於 BIM 的認知;同時可以針對 BIM 應用能力較為落後的企業定期舉辦相關 的創新技術知識及技能比賽,進一步促進企業之間的經驗交流與技術學習。另 一方面,本研究同時建議政府推出鼓勵中小企業間跨組織合作的獎勵機制,鼓 勵中小型企業形成以項目為導向的 BIM 技術互補聯盟,推動中小企業更廣泛 的應用 BIM 技術,從而進一步促進 BIM 相關知識在香港建造業的擴散,最終 使得建造行業內不同的企業都能受惠於此項創新技術。

(4) 政策評估的動態性分析表明,政策干預對試點 BIM 項目績效的促進作用 呈現動態逐年增加的趨勢;而異質性分析則發現政策干預帶來的促進作用並沒 有覆蓋建造項目的全部參與方,設計諮詢方及小型企業受惠較少。因此,政府 機構在今後實施相關政策時,可以同時建立相應的政策評估體系。具體而言, 本研究認為可以根據政策目標制定評價指標,通過比較視角建立政策長動態期 追蹤機制,在政策實施過程中定期進行調研並分階段收集業界的反饋意見,以 更好地評估政策的有效性。通過不斷提升政策與參與方的適配度,促進 BIM 在香港建造業的整體發展,藉以持續改善本港建造業質素。

### ii. English

(1) The heterogeneity analysis of the BIM mandatory policy evaluation shows that the BIM mandatory policy has significantly improved the project performance of large enterprises in applying BIM, but to a certain extent has restricted the behavior of small enterprises in adopting BIM; meanwhile, the results of the qualitative comparative analysis indicate that there is a significant difference in the composition of conditions that constitute the high BIM adoption rate of large enterprises and small and medium enterprises. This indicates that the current policy may not cover or benefit all enterprises, Specifically, the practice of BIM application in small and medium-sized enterprises is still not very satisfactory under the intervention of mandatory policies. This study suggests that in the future, it is essential to continuously expand the coverage of BIM-related policies, and tilt the focus of policy formulation from "projects" to "organizations" appropriately. The government is also suggested to formulate differentiated policies according to different sizes of enterprises and their BIM application practices as well as the organizational characteristics. And provide incentives and supportive policies on the basis of existing policies. Specifically, a series of combined policies can be introduced based on the nine BIM high adoption rate configurations identified in this study, to meet the differentiated requirements of organizations in the construction industry. Thus further improving BIM application practices and enhancing the performance of BIM application projects. The multi-pronged approach will encourage the widespread adoption of innovative construction methods and technologies to further promote productivity and improve construction quality.

(2) The empirical results indicate that the flexible use of learning levers and effective knowledge management is the cornerstone to promote the successful implementation of BIM. The qualitative comparative analysis of SMOs cases revealed that an organization's BIM capabilities can be substituted for financial capabilities in specific situations to achieve high BIM adoption rates. Based on this, in order to enhance the adoption rate of BIM in the construction industry in Hong Kong, the government agencies are recommended to actively launch courses and activities on advanced construction technologies, strengthen knowledge management of innovative technologies, provide professional technical training to practitioners of relevant enterprises, and guide enterprises to establish internal communication to realize the effective transfer of learning outcomes. The government can also encourage and assist enterprises to establish partnerships with local universities to actively recruit professionals who are expected to join the construction industry.

(3) The empirical results also indicate that the impact of BIM mandatory policy shows obvious heterogeneity among different stakeholders and organizations of different sizes. It has an obvious effect on the improvement of the BIM application practice of large organizations and owners, meanwhile, the design consultants and small organizations are not well-positioned to benefit from the positive effects of mandatory BIM policy implementation. This trend may deepen the discrepancy of BIM awareness among different stakeholders and exacerbate the uneven trend of BIM application in the construction industry, and further hinder the general adoption of BIM in Hong Kong. To mitigate the negative impact of this trend and eliminate the existing barriers to BIM application in the industry, the government is suggested to establish a communication platform and encourage the collaboration mechanism to facilitate the BIM capability of companies that are relatively backward. On the one hand, this study suggests that the government can establish a BIM communication platform for professionals in the construction and engineering industry with mature BIM applications to share their experiences, demonstrate the practical results of BIM application to strengthen the knowledge of BIM for companies that are relatively lagging at the present stage. At the same time, the government is also suggested to hold regular BIM-related innovative technical knowledge and skills competitions to further promote experience exchange and technical learning among companies. On the other hand, this study also recommends that the government should provide an incentive mechanism to encourage cross-organizational collaboration among SMOs as well as encourage them to form project-oriented BIM technology complementary alliances to promote the wider application of BIM technology among SMOs. Thereby further facilitating the diffusion of BIM-related knowledge in the Hong Kong construction industry, and ultimately enabling different companies in the construction industry to benefit from this innovative technology.

(4) The dynamic analysis of the policy evaluation suggests that there is a dynamic year-on-year increase in the contribution of policy interventions to the performance of BIM-based projects. However, the heterogeneity analysis found that the policy interventions did not cover all parties involved in the construction projects, while the design consultants and small enterprises benefited less. Therefore, government agencies are encouraged to establish a corresponding policy evaluation system when implementing relevant policies in the future. Specifically, this study suggests that

evaluation indicators can be developed based on policy objectives, and a long-term dynamic tracking mechanism can be established through a comparative perspective, as well as conduct regular investigations and collect feedback from the industry in phases during the policy implementation process to better evaluate the effectiveness of policies. By continuously enhancing the policy and participant's adaptability, facilitate the overall development of BIM in the regional construction industry, so as to consistently improve the quality of Hong Kong's construction industry.

### 1. Introduction

The construction industry worldwide has long been criticized for its slowness to adopt innovative technologies and processes to address the performance problems of cost overruns, schedule delays, and quality inferiorities. As an innovative technology to parametrically model and integrate the design, construction, and operation information throughout the project lifecycle, Building Information Modeling (BIM) has been widely recognized as a solution to many performance problems rooted in traditional design and construction processes. Like many other innovative technologies in the construction domain, BIM is a systemic innovation, with its successful implementation in a construction project generally requiring the close collaboration of multiple organizations. Based on its distinct characteristic of using parametric objects to model and manage project information, BIM can be used in a variety of areas such as clash detection, sustainability analysis, cost estimation, construction scheduling, and offsite fabrication throughout the project life cycle (Eastman, Eastman, Teicholz, Sacks, & Liston, 2011; T. Hartmann, Gao, & Fischer, 2008). It is widely claimed that BIM if implemented appropriately, can facilitate a more integrated design and construction process and generate substantial benefits in terms of fewer design coordination errors, more energy-efficient design solutions, reduced production cycle time, lower construction cost, and higher design and construction productivity (Bryde, Broquetas, & Volm, 2013; D. Cao, Li, & Wang, 2014; D. Cao et al., 2015; Gao & Fischer, 2008). Based on case studies in the USA and Canada, for example, it is estimated that BIM has the potential to reduce unbudgeted change orders by 37%-48% (Giel & Issa, 2013)

and increase onsite labor productivity by 75%-240% (Poirier, Staub-French, & Forgues, 2015). As such, it is even claimed by Hill (2008) that BIM is driving "the most transformative evolution the construction industry has ever experienced."

Knowing the potential benefits of BIM in addressing performance problems in traditional design and construction processes, governments or their executive arms in many regions have released relevant policies to facilitate the adoption and implementation of BIM in their construction industry. Table 1 summarized the BIM initiatives (i.e., policies, strategies, standards, and guidelines) as well as the BIM adoption targets developed in 7 countries/areas grouped into Asia, Europe, and the United States.

| Region                  | Countries or Agencies |   | BIM Policies or Strategies   | BIM Adoption<br>Targets    |
|-------------------------|-----------------------|---|--|----------------------------|
| The<br>United<br>States | Nation-<br>wide       | General Service<br>Administration<br>(GSA)<br>the United States<br>Army Corps of<br>Engineers<br>(USACE)<br>National Institute<br>of Building<br>Sciences ( <i>NIBS</i> ) | In 2006 the GSA mandated the use<br>of BIM in new buildings designed<br>through its Public Buildings Service<br>in and after Fiscal Year 2007.<br>The <i>NIB</i> S has developed a building<br>information modeling (BIM) guide<br>for building owners | Require BIM on<br>projects |
|                         | State-wide            | State<br>governments<br>such as   | Since 2009, local governments in<br>many states began to mandate the<br>use of BIM in state public projects.   | Require BIM on projects    |

Table 1. BIM Policies and Adoption Status in Different Regions

|        |            | Wisconsin,        |                                       |                      |
|--------|------------|-------------------|---------------------------------------|----------------------|
|        |            | Texas, Ohio, etc. |                                       |                      |
| Europe | the United | BSI, CIC, AEC-    | In 2011 the Cabinet Office            | Adopt Level 3 BIM    |
|        | Kingdom    | UK, and Cabinet   | mandated that all central             | by 2020              |
|        |            | Office            | government departments adopt          |                      |
|        |            |                   | Level 2 BIM (collaborative 3D BIM     |                      |
|        |            |                   | with all project and asset data being |                      |
|        |            |                   | electronic) in their projects by 2016 |                      |
|        | Denmark    | Danish            | In 2007 the DECA initiated the        | Danish state clients |
|        |            | Enterprise and    | Digital Construction Program (DCP)    | mandate BIM in all   |
|        |            | Construction      | which aims to set requirements for    | projects             |
|        |            | Authority         | the use of information technologies   |                      |
|        |            | (DECA)            | including BIM in public projects.     |                      |
|        | Sweden     | Transportation    | In 2015, all investment projects are  | Mandate the use of   |
|        |            | Administration    | mandated to use BIM                   | BIM in all           |
|        |            | (TA)              |                                       | investment projects  |
|        |            |                   |                                       | by 2015              |
| Asia   | Singapore  | Building and      | In 2011 the BCA released a BIM        | Mandate the          |
|        |            | Construction      | roadmap mandating the use of BIM      | industry using BIM   |
|        |            | Authority (BCA)   | in all projects with more than 5000   | and BIM e-           |
|        |            |                   | m <sup>2</sup> by 2015.               | submission           |
|        | Japan      | MLIT, JFCC,       | 2010, MLIT mandated BIM in            | JIA mandates BIM     |
|        |            | JIA               | government projects                   | in government        |
|        |            |                   |                                       | projects             |
|        | Mainland   | The Ministry of   | 2012, the government released the     | 2016, the            |
|        | China      | Housing and       | National 12th Five-Year Plan (2011-   | government           |
|        |            | Rural-Urban       | 2015)                                 | released the         |
|        |            | Development       |                                       | National 13th Five-  |
|        |            |                   |                                       | Year Plan (2016-     |
|        |            |                   |                                       | 2020)                |

The aforementioned regions have seen rapid BIM adoptions in the past decade benefit from the established policies and related supporting measures. According to the Smart Market Survey in 2012 and the National Building Specification (NBS) International BIM Survey in 2015, for example, the adoption rate of BIM among industry practitioners reached 71% in the USA in 2012 (Bernstein et al., 2012) and 78% in Denmark in 2015 (NBS 2016). The lasted National Building Specification (NBS) reported that due to the effects of statuary policies, BIM usage increased by 12% in 2018 worldwide (NBS 2018). Figure 1 summarizes the latest situation of BIM application in the representative regions. It can be seen that the application of BIM in the above-mentioned regions has made different and considerable progress.



Figure 1: Status Quo of BIM Application in the Representative Regions

*Source of Data*: ADVENSER (2022), Research and market (2022), René Morkos (2022), David Bain (2022), Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the People's Republic of China(2019), Report on BIM Application in China's Construction Industry (2021)

Hong Kong is one of the pioneering regions globally to advocate and facilitate BIM development in the construction industry officially. While the deployment of BIM in Hong Kong could date back more than a decade ago, when pioneered by some public client organizations such as the Housing Authority, the adoption of BIM in Hong Kong is still not widespread compared with leading practices worldwide. According to a survey conducted by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (PPR Project No.: 2016.A6.075.17A.), less than 10% of the investigated corporates already involved in

BIM adoption practices are implementing BIM in more than 50% of all their projects during 2016-2017, which is substantially lower than the similar rates reported in the UK (NBS 2017) and Shanghai (COHURDM 2017). And as stated in the "BIM Adoption Survey 2019" published by CIC, the organizations that do not have active BIM projects account for 56% of more than 700 surveyed organizations, and only 9% are identified as the BIM leaders which are defined as substantially more proactive in using BIM can more readily realize benefits from their BIM use. (CIC,2020). And with regard to the spread of BIM implementation practices among different types of industry organizations, the development of facilitating such innovative technology is uneven. For example, smaller-sized design and construction organizations are generally implementing BIM at lower levels in the local construction industry. As a result, on 1 December 2017, the Development Bureau (DEVB) issued a Technical Circular (Works) No. 7/2017 on the Adoption of BIM for Capital Works Projects in Hong Kong. It is stated in the circular that capital works projects with a project estimate of more than \$30 Million shall use BIM technology since 1 January 2018.



**Figure 2** Comparison of the Proportion of Projects Utilizing BIM among Surveyed Organizations in Hong Kong, Shanghai, and the UK

Besides the BIM initiatives taken by the public sector including policy, guidelines, and standards throughout the past decade, the first governmental mandatory BIM policy has been enacted for more than 5 years. It is time to assess the impacts of this policy by answering the following questions. (1) Whether this policy has produced intended impacts? (2) Is there any room for improvement, or are there any remedial measures for statuary bodies to take?

In this research project, the research team aims to provide a systemic summary of BIM initiatives taken by the public sector and examine how the public policy impacted the BIM adoption and implementation practices in the Hong Kong construction industry. In view of the specific characteristics of Hong Kong's construction industry and its BIM implementation practices, specifically, this research project adopted the Propensity Score Matching and Difference-In-Difference (PSM-DID) method to compare the BIM adoption behavior among organizations before and after the public policy was released and use the case-based approach to understand how organizational BIM adoption/implementation practices have been influenced by this public policy. As stated in the application proposal, the detailed objectives of this research project are as follows:

 To investigate and summarize the relevant BIM initiatives taken by the public sector in the Hong Kong construction industry;

- To illustrate and compare BIM adoption behavior among organizations in the Hong Kong construction industry before and after the implementation of mandatory policy;
- To recommend strategies to facilitate the diffusion of BIM among organizations in Hong Kong based on the propensity score matching difference-in-difference analysis and qualitative comparative analysis result.

The remainder of this research report is organized as follows. The next section first summarized a series of BIM policies in Hong Kong and provides the theoretical background of the policy intervention on project performance, and the theoretical basis of comparative perspective on the institutions of different natures or sizes in the construction industry. The following two sections have elaborated on the impact of mandatory policies on the project and organizational levels respectively, including the empirical data collected in the Hong Kong construction industry, the measurements used to operationalize the constructs related to the research model, and the data analysis processes and results. Section 5 discussed the policy implications of the research findings while Section 6 concluded the related output of this project.

### 2. Theoretical Background and Research Model

# 2.1 Status Quo of BIM Application and Related Initiatives in the Hong Kong Construction Industry

While governments in the aforementioned regions have established plans for the mandatory use of BIM in certain types of projects (Cao et al. 2014; Cheng and Lu 2015), the development of BIM in Hong Kong during the past decade was primarily driven by the market itself. Therefore, the diffusion of BIM in the Hong Kong construction industry was still at a preliminary stage and is considered to be lagging behind those pioneering regions (CIC, 2014).

The use of BIM in Hong Kong's construction industry can date back more than a decade. The Hong Kong Government has been aggressively introducing new BIM policies starting from 2009. However, the BIM adoption rate is still unsatisfactory. According to survey studies conducted by the Construction Industry Council in 2019 and 2020, more than 70% of the main contractors and sub-contractors are not implementing BIM. The survey study in 2020 states that enhancement of communication is rated as the most significant impact of BIM adoption in Hong Kong while various issues are raised, for example, the mix of open/proprietary file formats, information uncertainty, and the need for high-value data/information. Knowing these problems, the public sector in formulating Hong Kong has been and implementing relevant policies/standards/guidances over the past decade.



Figure 3 BIM-Related Policies and Initiatives in Hong Kong

As illustrated in Figure 2, this study has systematically reviewed the initiatives conducted by the government and its affiliated bodies from a longitudinal perspective. Specifically, DEVB has developed a BIM road map for the enhancement of BIM uses from fundamental BIM uses in project management at design and construction stages to more sophisticated BIM uses on digital fabrication and asset management which, for the technical circular released in 2020, it specifies that all tenders for construction contracts are required to use BIM technology for "Digital Fabrication" which is to use BIM technology to facilitate the fabrication of mass customized components or off-site prefabricated assemblies and the BIM models can also be used for prototyping with 3D printers as part of a design intent review process.

In conclusion, the construction industry in Hong Kong is obviously lagging behind the leading practices countries in BIM implementation, and the adoption of BIM in regional construction remains at a primary stage. Meanwhile, concerning the spread of BIM implementation practices among different types of industry organizations, the development of facilitating such innovative technology in Hong Kong is uneven.

# 2.2 The Effect of Policy Intervention on the Performance of Innovation Applications

Innovative policy initiatives can be conceptualized in three key dimensions (Bristow and Healy, 2014): the institutions through which policy actors act, i.e., the patterns and structures of governance (Bodin and Crona, 2009); the types of policy interventions which has been taken (Chaminade and Esquist, 2010); and the magnitude or timing of policy interventions (Bovaird, 2014). There is a growing literature on the classification of policy interventions, but few studies are scarce to understand the policy interventions of innovation for the performance of organizations (Evans *et al.*, 2017; Jiao and Boons, 2014). As an innovative technology, an increasing number of scholars are aware of the importance of BIM policy research (Li *et al.*, 2017). However, the current research on the relationship between policy intervention and BIM performance is almost completely disconnected.

On the one hand, some research has examined the policy efforts of different countries or regions in promoting BIM adoption in construction industries, including the specific form and content of BIM policies (Yang and Chou, 2018). Lee and Borrmann (2020) stated that the government and its subsidiary authorities had played a key role in requiring and promoting the adoption of BIM in construction projects. From a holistic view, BIM policies range from a firm mandate of BIM in all public projects through legislation changes, where necessary, to providing financial and organizational assistance down to lower levels of encouragement and support (Kassem and Succar, 2017).

With respect to the research on BIM policy in Hong Kong, Wong *et al.* (2011) discussed BIM adoption initiatives in the Hong Kong public sector, compared the implementation of BIM in Hong Kong and the U.S., and provided some suggested strategies for implementing BIM in Hong Kong. Oti-Sarpong *et al.* (2020) critically examined the implications of and responses to government policies and initiatives guiding mandatory BIM use for all public projects in the Hong Kong construction industry through content analysis. Both of the research has pointed out that the current policies implemented in Hong Kong have the potential to exacerbate the fragmentation of BIM adoption in the Hong Kong construction industry.

In response to the impact of mandatory policies, the above studies focused on changes in BIM adoption at a national or regional scale and reached an agreement that BIM adoption has all achieved milestone improvements following mandatory policy implementation (Lee and Borrmann, 2020). However, Dainty *et al.* (2017), from the specific standpoint of the small firm, critiqued the implementation of these mandatory policies, arguing that the BIM-centered political reform agendas might not stimulate innovation on a larger scale but rather disenfranchise small firms that are unable (or unwilling) to participate, thereby creating a polarized market in which benefits accrue mostly to those already privileged and the less powerful are marginalized (Cushman and McLean, 2008). Regrettably, their theoretical arguments are not supported by empirical evidence. On the other hand, a separate part of the research focuses on successful cases of BIM application and the impact of BIM on projects, exploring the benefits that can be derived from implementing BIM in the project (Olanrewaju et al., 2022; Jaaron et al., 2022). Smits et al. (2017) compared the BIM benefits of BIM-based projects and non-BIM projects with similar functional areas at a semiconductor manufacturing company. The results showed that BIM positively impacted cost and time performance, further evidence the positive value of BIM on project performance. Bryde et al. (2013) reported BIM benefits based on the secondary data from 35 construction projects that utilized BIM and concluded that improved cost performance due to BIM was most frequently mentioned, closely followed by time, communication, coordination, and quality benefits. Yang and Chou (2018) analyzed the application practices of BIM in the Taiwan construction industry. The result revealed that the most obvious benefit of implementing BIM is to improve the design quality of construction projects. These conclusions about the BIM benefits have also been validated in other case studies (Alshawi and Ingirige, 2003; Becerik-Gerber and Rice, 2010; Azhar, 2011).

In addition to the case studies mentioned above, some other studies used questionnaires to directly ask participants about their attitudes toward their organization's project performance to obtain participants' subjective evaluations of BIM performance (Becerik-Gerber and Rice, 2010). A similar approach is adopted in an increasing number of empirical studies on BIM performance. For example, Smits *et al.* (2017) used this method to examine the relationship between BIM maturity and project performance. Xu *et al.* (2022) examined the impact of contractual flexibility on BIMenabled project performance during the construction phase.

Another aspect of research on BIM performance focuses on the BIM return on investment (BIM ROI) from a quantitative perspective (Olanrewaju et al., 2022; Sompolgrunk et al., 2023), presenting BIM performance with relatively objective data through the cost-benefit analysis. The return on investment analysis compares the expected (or realized) benefits of an investment against the cost of the investment (i.e., ROI = benefit/cost) (Azhar, 2011). According to a survey by McGraw Hill Construction, two-thirds of BIM users have achieved positive ROI on their overall investment in BIM (McGraw Hill Construction, 2009). Becerik-Gerber and Rice (2010) analyzed the cost structure of BIM implementation and pointed out that the cost of software, software upgrade, hardware, hardware maintenance, and BIM training are the main components of BIM investment. Azhar (2011) reported the ROI of 10 BIM-assisted projects in Holder Construction that was continuously measured in 2006, with results ranging from 229% to 39,900%. However, Azhar (2011) argued that the actual BIM ROI might be higher because the results do not concern indirect design, construction, administrative, or other cost savings. In 2012, Autodesk developed a calculation model to reveal the first-year ROI of BIM application in the design phase, considering the system cost, labor, training, and productivity changes (Autodesk, 2012). The variables used in the formula include the cost of hardware and software (\$), monthly labor cost (\$), training time (months), productivity lost during training (%), and productivity gain after training

(%). Given the differences in BIM application contexts and the different investment and revenue structures, a uniform calculation standard still needs to be developed. However, it should be noted that the ROI calculated in this report is the BIM return, not the project's return on investment.

### 2.3 The Configurational Perspective on the Influencing Factors of BIM Adoption

In past decades, many pieces of research have been published exploring influential factors to the success of BIM adoption. Considering the complexity of construction projects and the diversity of the context, an increasing number of scholars employ Tornatzky *et al.* (1990)'s technology–organization–environment (TOE) framework to divide these factors into three categories, technological factors, organizational factors, and environmental factors (Ahuja *et al.*, 2016; Chen *et al.*, 2019; Qin *et al.*, 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2022; Yuan *et al.*, 2019). Thus, based on the existing empirical evidence on the use of the TOE framework in BIM adoption, a systematic literature review of these three dimensions was conducted for further construction of the research framework of this study.

#### 2.3.1 Technological Factor

Perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use are two primary technological considerations of BIM adoption (Yuan et al., 2019). According to Davis's technology acceptance model (TAM), organizations decide to adopt BIM due to the various benefits brought by this technology (Davis, 1989). Perceived benefits of using BIM in construction projects are critical drivers in BIM adoption (Lee et al., 2015), especially for SMOs, and are often used to explain the perceived usefulness of BIM (Davis et al., 1992). Given that perceived ease of use may not vary significantly across different technologies, this part mainly reviews the perceived benefits of BIM to facilitate an understanding of the technological factors influencing BIM adoption. According to the literature, these benefits can be categorized into the following four groups: improving scheduling (Azhar et al., 2012; Bryde et al., 2013; Hong et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2022), controlling cost (Babatunde et al., 2020; Chan et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2022), enhancing collaboration (Chan et al., 2019; Georgiadou, 2019; Lu and Korman, 2010; Wang et al., 2022), and improving quality (Ahuja et al., 2016; Doumbouya et al., 2016; Papadonikolaki, 2018; Wong et al., 2011).

Regarding time efficiency, BIM was proven to lead to real-time scheduling of activities, faster design processes, and potentially on-time delivery (Ahuja *et al.*, 2016; Almuntaser *et al.*, 2018; Blanco and Chen, 2014). For example, the data management module helps to execute the tasks related to quantity surveying quickly and

automatically adjust any changes (Steel *et al.*, 2012). A BIM-based project can easily track production with support from schedules based on interoperable data sharing and help optimize construction sequencing, diminishing and avoiding delays (Grilo and Jardim-Goncalves, 2010).

When it comes to the cost saving, compared to the traditional 2D or 3D CAD application, BIM has more advantages in updating, maintaining, storing, and sharing data and could provide more accurate information (Georgiadou, 2019), thus reducing the risk of making a decision based on assumptions from outdated drawings (Arayici *et al.*, 2011; Barlish and Sullivan, 2012; Bryde *et al.*, 2013), thereby avoiding the corresponding financial loss. While on the other hand, some scholars emphasized that BIM performs very well in lean construction (Arayici *et al.*, 2011; Eastman *et al.*, 2011; Sebastian, 2011; Volk *et al.*, 2014; Weygant, 2011). Effective collaboration and information sharing can improve the design and thus reducing added costs in material supply and human resources (Eastman *et al.*, 2011; Volk *et al.*, 2014), and the risk of costly rework can also be eliminated (Sebastian, 2011; Weygant, 2011).

Enhancing collaboration is one of the most vital benefits mentioned in existing studies. As we all know, the construction project is quite complex as it requires frequent communication and tight collaboration between many stakeholders (Murguia *et al.*, 2021). However, based on a shared set of standards and a common data environment, BIM can help to facilitate a novel and effective integrated collaborative approach based on a shared set of standards and a common data environment (Farnsworth *et al.*, 2015; Sebastian, 2011). BIM's ability to update models in real-time helps exchange project information easily, thus contributing to effective communication and conflict resolution throughout the project lifecycle (Blanco and Chen, 2014). The study conducted by Hong *et al.* (2020) indicates that most organizations adopt BIM to solve collaboration problems.

In addition, BIM technology is also widely praised for its positive effect on quality improvement. According to a previous study, many organizations have adopted BIM to achieve better project quality worldwide (Wong *et al.*, 2011). In the design phase, adopting BIM allows designers to save time in drafting and leave more time for designing, thus leading to better design quality (Li *et al.*, 2019). And in the construction phase, BIM's ability to generate comprehensive information and model concerning the building components can help modular building contractors increase quality output (Eastman *et al.*, 2011). Besides, with BIM, a construction project can be inspected during all stages of the project (Crotty, 2012), and conflicts and clashes between the building and its elements can be detected in real-time (Azhar *et al.*, 2012; Babatunde *et al.*, 2020), which provides great technical assurance for project quality improvement.
## 2.3.2 Organizational Factors

BIM adoption is related to inter-organizational processes and practice (Faisal Shehzad *et al.*, 2022). Introducing BIM technology into construction projects means substituting the traditional workflow (Zahrizan *et al.*, 2013); it is not just a matter of changing software tools; instead, it is a matter of re-engineering the firm and transforming its business process and management practices (Al-Ashmori *et al.*, 2020; Arayici *et al.*, 2011; Saka and Chan, 2020). In this sense, BIM adoption can be regarded as an organizational change (Eastman *et al.*, 2011). It includes top management's decision-making and requires related organizational capabilities to change the workflows (Al-Ashmori *et al.*, 2020). As evident in previous studies, top management support (Abbasnejad *et al.*, 2021; Ahuja *et al.*, 2016; Arayici *et al.*, 2011), financial capacity (Belay *et al.*, 2021; Hochscheid and Halin, 2020), and BIM capability (Cao *et al.*, 2017; Ding *et al.*, 2015; Hong *et al.*, 2019; Ozorhon and Karahan, 2017) are the top three crucial organizational factors that strongly relate to BIM adoption.

The positive impact of top management support on BIM adoption has been examined in a series of research (Ahuja *et al.*, 2016; Arayici *et al.*, 2011; Chen *et al.*, 2019; Mom *et al.*, 2014; Okakpu *et al.*, 2018). From a practical level, adopting and implementing BIM within the organization involves managing people, shifting organizational culture, deploying resources, and changing the business process and workflows (Arayici *et al.*, 2011; Saka and Chan, 2020). Usually, the decision on the above matters is in the hands of the top management. Just as Gledson and Greenwood (2017) argued, BIM adoption was an authority-type decision made by upper organizational management with innovation awareness. Thus, the success of BIM adoption in organizations can be attributed to the support from top management.

There is no doubt that the adoption of BIM requires a high investment in purchasing software and hardware and staff training (Eadie *et al.*, 2013). Organizations with substantial financial support are more likely to adopt BIM and vice versa. Recently, some researchers have examined the effect of organization size on BIM adoption behavior and found that the substantial difference in BIM adoption rates was attributed to the financial capacity of the organization, where larger organizations have more financial resources. This significantly contributed to the adoption rate of BIM in large firms (Saka and Chan, 2022). For SMOs, a lack of financial capacity often results in shying away from BIM (Abanda and Tah, 2014; Benjaoran, 2009; Hanna *et al.*, 2013; Juan *et al.*, 2017). More specifically, because of financial constraints, they may be more concerned with the cost of applications and training for the employee when deciding whether to adopt BIM.

Regarding organizational BIM capabilities, a series of researches indicate a deep relationship between BIM adoption and organizational BIM capability, which strong BIM capability usually leads to the successful adoption of BIM (Ghaffarianhoseini *et*  *al.*, 2017; Ozorhon and Karahan, 2017; Zhang *et al.*, 2020; Zhao *et al.*, 2018). To be specific, on the one hand, the organization staff's capability to operate and maintain BIM tools and files will contribute to the establishment of an organizational knowledge-support system, which makes it easier to use BIM in construction projects (Hong *et al.*, 2019). On the other hand, a wealth of BIM knowledge helps organizations better understand the benefits of BIM, thus increasing the likelihood of adoption (Hosseini *et al.*, 2016).

### 2.3.3 Environmental Factors

Environmental factors are the conditions outside of the organizations that influence organizational BIM adoption behaviors in the form of institutional isomorphism (Cao *et al.*, 2014; Faisal Shehzad *et al.*, 2022; Saka *et al.*, 2022). In line with the institutional theory (DiMaggio and Powell, 1983), BIM emerged as a nascent technology, and the institutional environment organizations embed will inevitably influence their adoption behavior. A considerable amount of literature has been published on the relationship between BIM adoption and the institutional environment in the construction management field (Cao *et al.*, 2014; Ma *et al.*, 2019; Murguia *et al.*, 2021; Saka *et al.*, 2022; Zhang *et al.*, 2020). It has been reported that institutional pressures from the government, clients, and competitors are the most significant push factors for BIM adoption (Adriaanse *et al.*, 2010; Ahuja *et al.*, 2016; Babatunde *et al.*, 2020; Chen *et al.*, 2019; Ding *et al.*, 2015; Papadonikolaki, 2018; Saka *et al.*, 2022).

Concerning the government pressure, Liu *et al.* (2015) regarded the BIM adoption behavior as a national issue with an emphasis on the formal acceptance by policymakers to be globally competitive. In this sense, BIM adoption is a product of political will or legislation and requires related policies, regulations, and guidelines to bring it into effect (Olugboyega and Windapo, 2019). Several studies have shown that government pressure strongly contributes to BIM adoption rates in many countries (Babatunde *et al.*, 2020; Belay *et al.*, 2021; Wang *et al.*, 2022).

As evident from prior research findings, BIM adoption is emerging as a contract requirement for many projects as clients increasingly demand it (Adriaanse *et al.*, 2010; Gurevich and Sacks, 2020; Saka and Chan, 2022). On the one hand, to enhance the ability to secure more contacts and maintain the relationship with their client base (Manley, 2008; Sexton and Barrett, 2003), organizations will cater to their clients' demand for BIM. While on the other hand, the government, as a unique client, has begun to require public facility agencies to adopt and implement BIM in the business processes to promote BIM technology diffusion (Cheng and Lu, 2015).

In consideration of competition, when organizations find that their competitors are using BIM, especially the industry leaders, they will also consider adopting BIM into projects to maintain a competitive advantage in the marketplace (Faisal Shehzad *et al.*, 2022; Hochscheid and Halin, 2020; Saka *et al.*, 2022). It can be seen that building organizational competitiveness has become one of the primary concerns in the BIM adoption decision (Cao *et al.*, 2018; Ding *et al.*, 2015; Hong *et al.*, 2019).

# 2.4 Summary

In summary, the current research findings provide a comprehensive understanding of the effect of policy intervention on innovation performance as well as the influencing factors for BIM adoption. In particular, the TOE framework has provided a diverse understanding of the influential factors of BIM adoption in different dimensions. However, scant attention has been paid to the combinations of various factors that may lead to a high BIM adoption, which is derived from an emerging configurational perspective based on the set logic (Rihoux et al., 2011). Under the framework of set theory, it is a combination of conditions (independent or "explanatory" variables) rather than a single condition that eventually produces the outcome. There are usually several combinations of conditions resulting in the same outcome, while the given condition may have a different impact on the outcomes given the different contexts (Rihoux et al., 2011). Given this, the configurational view advocated by set theory challenges the single linear relationship that has been the focus of traditional regression analysis and is expected to provide a new explanation for the enabling mechanism of BIM adoption. As an emergent technology, BIM adoption in organizations is complicated (Li et al., 2019), involving numerous factors from technology, organization, and environment. In

this sense, BIM adoption is the outcome of a combination of conditions rather than a given condition. Therefore, this study attempts to investigate the effective combinations of conditions that lead to a high BIM adoption in organizations based on the TOE framework and provide new insights into BIM adoption research from a configuration perspective. Based on this, the research framework of this study is constructed. As shown in Figure 4, the technological factors refer to the perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness, which include four potential benefits of BIM, namely improving scheduling, controlling cost, enhancing collaboration, and improving quality. Organizational factors refer to the organizational capabilities required for an organization to adopt BIM, including the three dimensions frequently appearing in the existing literature, namely top management support, financial capability, and BIM capability. Environmental factors refer to external pressure from the outside of organizations, including government pressure in the forms of a mandatory policy, competitor pressure from the market, and client contract pressure from the client.



# **Figure 4** The Research Framework of Quantitative Comparative Analysis on BIM Adoption Behavior

*Note:* In line with the results of the interviews, client pressure was removed in the data analysis because there was a large overlap between government pressure and client pressure, according to the respondents' statements, most of the client pressure came from the mandatory policy.

As mentioned above, BIM adoption is the outcome of a combination of conditions rather than a given condition. Compared with conventional descriptive statistics and correlation analysis, fuzzy-set qualitative comparative analysis (fsQCA) is more applicable to the research question of this study. Proposed by Ragin (Ragin, 1987, 2000, 2008), QCA is a case-oriented method based on set theory and Boolean algebra (Ragin, 2008b; Schneider & Wagemann, 2012), which enables the researcher to define cases as sets of qualitatively derived causal attributes to determine causal pathways by comparing sets of cases with shared attributes and outcomes while using Boolean algebra to identify configurations that reflect the necessary and sufficient conditions for an outcome of interest. The core idea of QCA is causal complexity (Ragin, 1987); multiple causes result in the same outcome, and causal relationships between condition and outcome are asymmetric (Ragin, 2008; Fiss, 2011). That is to say, it is often a combination of conditions rather than one single condition that leads to an outcome (Fiss et al., 2011; Rihoux et al., 2011). Thus, by identifying different configurational paths to a given outcome, QCA enables in-depth analysis of the research question in configurational terms and can identify the complex complementary and substitutive linkages among conditions, thus identifying the combinations of causal conditions that lead to high/low BIM adoption level. Finally, the comparative analysis between different cases (or paths) can provide more effective and suitable strategic suggestions for the government and related sectors.

Therefore, this research first implemented Propensity Scores in conjunction with Difference in Differences models (PSM-DID), particularly investigating a propensity score weighting strategy that weights the four groups (defined by time and intervention status) to be balanced on a set of organizational characteristics. And then explored the impact of the mandatory policy which influences organizations with different attribute/ownership types, and further combined with the potential adjustment of BIM implementation practices (i.e., BIM implementation areas, BIM implementation motivations, organizational strategies, etc.) from a quantitively comparative analysis approach, thus to comprehensively detect the performance of organization under the mandatory policy. As illustrated in Figure 5, the research activities of this project have been categorized into four stages: research design, data collection, data analysis, and strategy development. In order to achieve the three proposed research objectives (i.e., investigation of BIM initiatives and comparison of BIM adoption behavior, case-oriented analysis, strategy assessment, and development), this project implemented semi-structured interviews and questionnaire survey as the data collection method and used the PSM-DID analysis and qualitative comparative analysis as the data analysis methods. Specifically, the research framework is displayed in Figure 5, and important steps are elaborated on in the subsequent sections.



Figure 5 Process of Data Collection and the Designated Method

# 3. Exploring the Impact of Mandatory Policy on BIM-Based Project Performance

### **3.1 Research Methodology**

### 3.1.1 Data Collection

Considering the characteristics of the industry structure and BIM adoption practices in the Hong Kong construction industry, the questionnaire was deployed to collect data on BIM-based projects and organizational BIM adoption practices. In order to assess the impacts of the mandatory policy on BIM implementation and practices in the regional construction industry, data has been collected in two separate groups. One group is the yearly data related to the public projects of the organizations which are affected by the mandatory policy, i.e., the data of the treated group. The other group is the yearly data related to the privacy projects of organizations, which are not affected by the mandatory policy (i.e., the control group). In view of data availability and sample size, this study identified two time periods to observe the time-changing trend of BIMbased project performance: data from 2015-2017 and data from 2018-2021. The questionnaire has been dispatched to the three target groups (i.e., owners, design consultants, and main contractors) to collect data on organizational BIM adoption/implementation practices in each group. In detail, the questionnaire survey was conducted with BIM directors, technical managers, or other informed professional individuals in these organizations due to their relatively high familiarity with BIM projects.

The research team initially distributed 800 questionnaires and finally received 585, among which 502 were valid questionnaires with an effective recovery rate of 62.75%. Descriptive statistics of variables are shown in Table 2.

| Variable               | Category          | Ν   | %     |
|------------------------|-------------------|-----|-------|
| Organization Role      | Main contractor   | 194 | 38.65 |
|                        | Design consultant | 138 | 27.49 |
|                        | Owner             | 170 | 33.86 |
| Organization Size      | Large             | 156 | 31.08 |
|                        | Medium            | 162 | 32.27 |
|                        | Small             | 184 | 36.65 |
| Organization Ownership | Multi-national    | 176 | 35.06 |
|                        | Local             | 326 | 64.94 |
| Organization Age       | Under 10 years    | 58  | 11.55 |
|                        | 10-50 years       | 321 | 63.94 |
|                        | 50-100 years      | 94  | 18.73 |

# Table 2. Demographic Information of Samples

*Note:* Large-sized organization refers to which employ more than 250 full-time employees, medium-sized organization refers to which employ 50-250 full-time employees, and small-sized organization refers that employs fewer than 50 full-time employees; Organization age refers to the years counting since the organization's establish year to the year of 2022.

#### **3.1.2 PSM-DID Approach**

Difference-in-difference (DID) method is commonly used to evaluate the effect of a policy (Stuart *et al.*, 2014). By comparing changes over time in a group affected by the policy intervention (treated group) to the group unaffected by the policy intervention

(control group), unbiased effect estimates can be obtained. In general, the application of the DID method usually needs to satisfy the common trend assumption, that the difference between the two groups should be sufficiently small. However, according to the convergence theory and the BIM practice, this assumption is often challenging to be satisfied. The treated and control groups may differ in ways that their trends were affected, or the compositions may change over time, which leads to selective bias problems and decrease the precision of the estimate.

Realizing the selective bias in DID method, Heckman *et al.* (1997, 1998) combined the PSM method (Rosenbaum and Rubin, 1983, 1985) with DID method. Based on observable variables, the treated and control groups' samples were selected and matched to control the selective bias of samples to ensure the sample satisfied the assumption of a common trend for the DID analysis. Therefore, this study employed the PSM-DID method to examine the impact of the first mandatory BIM policy on the BIM-based project performance in the Hong Kong construction industry. By comparing the performance difference between the treated and control group before and after the policy was issued, this study has explored the net impact caused by the policy. The following section has described the use of PSM in conjunction with DID model, particularly investigating a propensity score weighting strategy that weights the four groups (defined by time and intervention status) to be balanced on a set of characteristics.

## **Propensity Score Matching (PSM)**

The PSM method was proposed by Rosenbaum and Rubin (1983,1985) to calculate the propensity score to match the counterfactual results of the treated group. The primary approach is to find an individual "*j*" in the control group without policy intervention and make such a "*j*" is as similar as possible to the observable variables of the individual "*i*" in the treated group with policy intervention, i.e.,  $\chi_i \approx \chi_j$ . Therefore, propensity scores are often also defined as distance functions of covariates to estimate the probability of an individual being affected by policy intervention. The PSM in this study includes the following five steps. Firstly, referring to Caliendo and Kopeinig (2008), this study selected the variables that may simultaneously affect the outcome variable and the participation decision of samples from the existing literature as covariates. Based on this, BIM implementation experience, BIM adoption rate, the depth of BIM implementation level, organization size, and the years of organization establishment were selected for the propensity score estimation.

Afterward, this study selected the logit model (Cox, 1970) to estimate the propensity scores, which can be calculated based on the following equations (Eq. (1), Eq. (2), Eq. (3)). Assuming Bp*i* belongs to the treated group, the conditional probability of Bp*i* entering the treated group can be calculated. Where  $p_i$  denotes the probability that Bp*i* is assigned to the treated group under the condition of a series of covariates  $\chi_i$ . Thus, logit( $p_i$ ) in Ep. (1) is a 0-1 variable, which is 1 when the Bp*i* is in the treated group; otherwise is 0. Through binary logit regression on Ep. (1), the estimated value of the parameter  $\hat{\beta}$  and  $\hat{\beta}_0$  can be obtained. Then, the propensity score  $\hat{p}_i$  can be calculated through the estimated parameter values based on Eq. (3).

$$\operatorname{logit}(p_i) = \log\left(\frac{p_i}{1-p_i}\right) = \beta_0 + \sum \beta_i \chi_i + \varepsilon_i \tag{1}$$

$$p_i = p(Bp_i = 1|\chi = \chi_i) \tag{2}$$

$$\widehat{p}_{i} = \sum \widehat{\beta} \chi_{i} + \widehat{\beta}_{0}$$
(3)

Then, referring to Austin (2010), this study used the nearest-neighbor matching within specified calipers to match the treated and the control groups according to the propensity score. On the one hand, referring to Abadie and Imbens (2006), this study set the ratio as 1:4, i.e., matching four samples from the control group for each sample in the treated group, to ensure a smaller sample variance. After matching, this study examined the quality of the matching by common trend test and balance test in the following steps. And Stuart and Rubin (2008) suggested that matching with replacement can yield better matches and decrease the bias. On the other hand, this study used a caliper of width equal to 0.2 of the standard deviation of the logit of the propensity score as this value can minimize the bias due to the measured confounders and result in optimal estimation (Austin, 2010, 2011).

The last step is to diagnose the matching quality. In general, there are two central properties that the propensity score model should always be assessed and reported: the balance property and the common support region. This study used two approaches to test the balance. One is to compare the standardized difference of group propensity score means (Stuart, 2010). The other one is to use the t-test to check if there are significant differences in covariate means for both groups (Rosenbaum and Rubin, 1985). As for the common support assumption, this study examined the range of the propensity score distributions in the treated and control group with a visual analysis of the density distribution of the propensity score in both groups to determine whether the two groups' propensity distributions sufficiently overlap.

#### **Differences in differences (DID)**

The DID method is a common quasi-experimental approach to estimating the causal effect of a specific policy (Zang *et al.*, 2020). Specifically, the Hong Kong government launched the first BIM mandatory policy can be regarded as an exogenous policy intervention on the BIM adoption behavior of organizations at a particular time point and deemed as a quasi-natural experiment in the construction industry (Stuart *et al.*, 2014). Since the policy was issued in early 2018, this study took that year as the time node and set the virtual variables as follows. The BIM-based project (Bp) represents the project virtual variable and defines the two-dimensional virtual variable, Bp =  $\{0, 1\}$ . Bp = 1 represents the treated group, i.e., the BIM-based public projects of

organizations affected by the first BIM mandatory policy during 2018-2021. Bp = 0 represents the control group, i.e., the BIM-based privacy projects of organizations unaffected by the policy during 2018-2021. As for the time virtual variable, time = 1 represents the period after the implementation of the first BIM mandatory policy, i.e., 2018-2021. Time = 0 represents the period before implementing the first BIM mandatory policy, i.e., 2018-2017. In order to estimate the net impact of the first BIM mandatory policy on the BIM-based project performance, this study constructed the following equation (Eq. (4)):

$$Perf_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Bp_{it} + \beta_2 time_{it} + \beta_3 Bp_{it} * time_{it} + \beta_4 \chi_i$$
(4)

where  $Perf_{it}$  denotes BIM-based project performance, *i* and *t* denote the *i*-th BIM-based project and *t*-th year, respectively.  $\beta$  denotes the regression coefficients.  $Bp_{it}$  denotes project virtual variables.  $time_{it}$  denotes time virtual variables. The interaction item  $Bp_{it} * time_{it}$  denotes whether the first BIM mandatory policy has been implemented.  $\chi_{it}$  denotes control variables.  $\varepsilon_{it}$  denotes random disturbance term.

#### **3.1.3 Model Development**

# <u>Dependent Variable</u>

The BIM-based project performance was designated as the dependent variable in this study. Recently, the benefits of BIM on project performance have been widely

discussed by scholars (Azhar, 2011; Suermann, 2009; Becerik-Gerber and Rice, 2010; Barlish and Sullivan, 2012; Bryde *et al.*, 2013; Doumbouya *et al.*, 2016; Smits *et al.*, 2017; Franz and Messner, 2019; Kim *et al.*, 2021). Among them, cost, time, quality, communication, and return on investment (ROI) are the top five indicators to determine performance improvement in delivering BIM-based projects. Therefore, these five most frequently referred indicators were used in this study to measure BIM-based project performance. All the questions set answers on a 7-point scale. As for the ROI, it is important to note that the calculated ROI rate is an estimated payback of BIM, i.e., BIM return on investments (ROI), not a return on investment in a specific project. Referring to Reizgevičius *et al.* (2018), this study constructed a calculation formula based on "Autodesk Revit" ROI calculations (see Eq. (5))

$$BIM ROI = \frac{(Benefits from BIM - based projects - Investment in BIM)}{Investment in BIM}$$
(5)

where investment in BIM includes the purchase of software and staff training. The specific value is yearly.

#### Independent Variable

The implementation of the first BIM mandatory policy in the Hong Kong construction industry can be regarded as a quasi-natural experiment. Just as illustrated above, a BIMbased project (Bp) is a policy dummy variable, including whether a project is affected by the policy. For BIM-based public projects, the value of Bp is set to 1. For BIM-based privacy projects, the value of Bp is set to 0. Time is time dummy variable representing the implementation of the first BIM mandatory policy. The value of time is set as 1 for years after the implementation, i.e., 2018-2021. The value of time is set as 0 for years before the implementation, i.e., 2015-2017. And in DID model, as shown in Eq. (4), the interaction term  $Bp_{it} * time_{it}$  is the difference-in-differences estimator, the coefficient of  $Bp_{it} * time_{it}$  reflects the net impact of the policy on the BIM-based project performance.

#### **Control Variables**

Based on the existing literature and the unique characteristics of BIM-based projects, this study selected the BIM implementation experience, BIM adoption rate, the depth of BIM implementation level, organization size, and the years of organization establishment as control variables to ensure the stability of the estimated results. Specifically, in the same way as a lot of research before (Zang *et al.*, 2020; Yu *et al.*, 2021), covariates and control variables are the same.

(1) BIM implementation experience (denoted by "BIMexp") is measured by the total years of the BIM application practices.

(2) BIM adoption rate (denoted by "BIMado") is measured by the ratio of the number of projects using BIM against the number of overall projects. (3) Depth of BIM implementation level (denoted by "BIMdep") is measured by the status of BIM implementation referring to "CIC BIM Standards - General (Version 2.1 - 2021)".

(4) Organization age (denoted by "lnage") is measured by the natural logarithm of the years of organization establishment.

(5) Organization size (denoted by "lnsize") is measured by the natural logarithm of the yearly number of full-time employees in the organization.

# 3.2. Empirical Analysis and Results

# **3.2.1 PSM Analysis Results**

The BIM implementation experience (BIMexp), BIM adoption rate (BIMado), BIM implementation depth (BIMdep), organization size (Orgsize), and organization age (Orgage) were first selected as covariates and then run in the PSM model to eliminate the differences in characteristics between projects as much as possible and to solve the sample matching problem in quasi-natural experimental studies. As for the organization size and age, this study took the natural logarithm of these two continuous variables to weaken heteroscedasticity in the analysis. This was followed by a logit model to estimate the propensity score, which is the conditional probability of accepting the policy intervention, to further weaken the self-selection problem. And then, the K-nearest neighbor matching method is conducted on PSM. Referring to Abadie and

Imbens (2006), this study set the ratio as 1:4, i.e., matching four samples from the control group for each sample in the treated group, to ensure a more minor sample variance. After matching, this study examined the quality of the matching by common trend test and balance test in the following steps.

# Common Support Test

The common support assumption is a basic assumption that needs to be satisfied before conducting PSM-DID, i.e., judging whether the observations in the control group overlap the observations from the treated group. According to the statistical result of the quantity of treatment and control groups in a common support area as shown in Table 3. It is clear that out of 3514 observations, only 43 observations in the control group are not in the common support region, and 1757 observations in the treated group are all in the common support region. It can be judged that the assumption is satisfied in this study. These samples that fall outside the common support region are removed in subsequent analyses to better satisfy the common support assumption.

| Group              | Common      | Total observations |      |
|--------------------|-------------|--------------------|------|
| -                  | Off support | On support         | _    |
| Control group      | 43          | 1714               | 1757 |
| Treated Group      | 0           | 1757               | 1757 |
| Total observations | 43          | 3471               | 3514 |

 Table 3 Results of Common Support Test

# **Balance Test**

A balance test is conducted in this section to judge the matching results' validity further. As shown in Table 4, after matching, the absolute values of the normalized bias of all covariates are less than 20%, which is considered valid for the matching estimation results according to the criteria proposed by Rosenbaum and Rubin (1985). Meanwhile, the t-statistics of all covariates are no longer significant, which indicates that there is no significant difference between the treated and control groups, and the new samples obtained using the PSM model can effectively solve the problem of sample selection bias. More robust estimation results can be achieved in the subsequent analysis. Furthermore, to straightforwardly show the matching results, the kernel density distribution maps before and after matching are plotted based on the propensity scores as illustrated in Figure 6. Combined with the overlap of the two kernel density curves, the difference between the two groups significantly decreases after matching, the overlap becomes significantly higher, and the overall tends to be a normal distribution, which indicates that the selection bias problem is effectively solved with PSM. Based on the above results, the matching results of this study passed the balance test.

| Variables | Sample    | Mean    |         | %bias | %reduct | %reduct <i>t</i> -te |        |
|-----------|-----------|---------|---------|-------|---------|----------------------|--------|
|           |           | Control | Treated |       | bias    | t                    | P >  t |
| BIMexp    | Unmatched | 6.9164  | 7.8936  | 50.1  | 97.6    | 13.51                | 0.000  |
|           | Matched   | 7.4288  | 7.4479  | 1.2   |         | 0.30                 | 0.762  |
| BIMado    | Unmatched | 0.2085  | 0.3366  | 70.2  | 91.9    | 20.81                | 0.000  |
|           | Matched   | 0.2697  | 0.2800  | 5.7   |         | 1.50                 | 0.135  |
| BIMdep    | Unmatched | 12.343  | 14.277  | 40.8  | 87.5    | 12.10                | 0.000  |
|           | Matched   | 13.168  | 13.408  | 5.1   |         | 1.26                 | 0.208  |
| lnage     | Unmatched | 3.5212  | 2.9857  | 80.9  | 97.7    | 21.95                | 0.000  |
|           | Matched   | 3.3526  | 3.3468  | 1.9   |         | 0.50                 | 0.618  |
| lnsize    | Unmatched | 6.2024  | 7.1028  | 40.8  | 98      | 11.93                | 0.000  |
|           | Matched   | 6.5456  | 6.7205  | 0.8   |         | 0.24                 | 0.813  |

Table 4 Balance Test of PSM



Figure 6 Kernel Density Curve of Propensity Score Before and After Matching

## **3.2.2 DID Regression Results**

# Parallel trend test

The parallel trend assumption is critical for the DID method (Guo *et al.*, 2020; Fu *et al.*, 2021; Gao and Yuan, 2021). Specifically, the treated and control groups should have similar time trends in BIM performance before the mandatory policies are in place. To verify this assumption, this study plotted the time trend graph of BIM performance between 2015 and 2022 for the treated and control groups in STATA software (see Figure 7). Regarding the trend lines for the treated and control groups, subjective BIM performance and BIM ROI show relatively similar trends before 2018. The time trends for both began to diverge after the policy was implemented. Therefore, the results of the above analysis support the parallel trend assumption.



Figure 7 Trends of Explained Variables During 2015-2021

# Main effects of the mandatory policy

The regression results for the intervention effects of the mandatory policy have been shown in Table 5, where column 1 (model 1) and column 2 (model 2) show the results for the impact of mandatory policy on subjective BIM performance, while column 3 (model 3) and column 4 (model 4) show the results for the effect of mandatory policy on BIM ROI. The results show that the coefficient symbols of the interaction terms (treated\*time) of all four columns are positive and significant, which implies that mandatory policy has a significant impact on the subjective BIM performance and BIM ROI of projects in the treated group, regardless of whether other variables are considered. Further, the coefficient of the interaction term in column 2 is 0.1241, which is significant at the 1% level, while the coefficient of the interaction term in column 4 is 6.5493 and is also significant at the 1% level. This indicates that the impact of mandatory policy on BIM ROI is greater than subjective BIM performance. When interpreted in an economic sense, implementing the mandatory policy increased the subjective BIM performance level of projects in the treated group by an average of 12.41% and increased the BIM ROI level by 654.93%.

| Variables      | Perave    |           | Perroi    |           |  |  |
|----------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|--|--|
|                | Model 1   | Model 2   | Model 3   | Model 4   |  |  |
| treated        | 0.2453*** | 0.1134*** | 9.4019*** | 6.3733*** |  |  |
| time           | 0.7775*** | 0.5925*** | 8.2892*** | 7.2667*** |  |  |
| treated*time   | 0.1649*** | 0.1241*** | 9.5348*** | 6.5493*** |  |  |
| Control        | No        | Yes       | No        | Yes       |  |  |
| Constant       | 4.3111**  | 3.7574**  | 8.3151**  | 7.4037**  |  |  |
| R <sup>2</sup> | 0.2859    | 0.7449    | 0.0352    | 0.6682    |  |  |
| Ν              | 3471      | 3471      | 3471      | 3471      |  |  |

**Table 5** The Impact of the Mandatory Policy on BIM Performance

Note: \*p < 0.1, \*\*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.01

# The Dynamic Effect of the Mandatory Policy

In order to test whether the promotion effect of mandatory policy on BIM-based project performance has gradually increased with time, this study evaluates the dynamic effect of the policy. Referring to Zang *et al.* (2020) and Yu *et al.* (2021), this study selects the sample with one, two, and three years after policy implementation to generate new interaction terms that multiply the year dummy variables from 2019 to 2021 with the policy dummy variables ("treatments") for the PSM-DID regressions. The analysis result has been demonstrated in Table 6. As shown in column 6 the regression coefficients of the subjective BIM performance are 0.1274, 0.2575, and 0.3879 for 2019-2021, and all of them are statistically significant at the 1% level. This indicates the promotion effect of the mandatory policy on BIM subjective performance gradually increased over time. Regarding the BIM ROI, according to the results

presented in column 8, the regression coefficients for 2019-2021 are 6.6567, 8.4891, and 11.6714, respectively. And all are significant at the 1% level, indicating a year-on-year growth trend of the impact of mandatory policy on BIM ROI.

| Variables      | Per       | erave     |            | Perroi     |  |
|----------------|-----------|-----------|------------|------------|--|
|                | Model 5   | Model 6   | Model 7    | Model 8    |  |
| treated*time19 | 0.1896*** | 0.1274*** | 9.5554***  | 6.6567***  |  |
| treated*time20 | 0.4924*** | 0.2575*** | 13.2339*** | 8.4891***  |  |
| treated*time21 | 0.7842*** | 0.3879*** | 22.5383*** | 11.6714*** |  |
| Control        | No        | Yes       | No         | Yes        |  |
| Constant       | 4.3696**  | 3.7634*** | 20.7482**  | 12.4498*** |  |
| Ν              | 3471      | 3471      | 3471       | 3471       |  |
| $\mathbb{R}^2$ | 0.3295    | 0.7537    | 0.0427     | 0.6826     |  |

Table 6 The Results of the Dynamic Effects of Mandatory Policy on BIM Performance

*Note:* \*p < 0.1, \*\*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.01

#### **Heterogeneity Test of Policy Effect**

Given the differences in the adoption and implementation of BIM among various stakeholders and organizations of differing sizes, this study further divided the sample into separate groups based on their roles and organization size. To examine the impact of mandatory policy on different types of organizations. This section further conducts PSM-DID analysis for three stakeholders, namely, contractors, design consultant, and owner as well as three samples of the large, medium, and small organizations, respectively. According to the regression results provided in Table 7, it can be concluded that for different stakeholders, in terms of subjective BIM performance, the mandatory policy has a significant promotion effect on the owner ( $\beta$ =0.2183, p<0.01), followed by the contractor ( $\beta$ =0.1055, p<0.01). In contrast, the policy also had a boosting effect on the design consultants ( $\beta$ =0.0298), but the coefficient was not significant (p>0.1). Considering the BIM ROI, the mandatory policy exhibits similar heterogeneity effects on three types of stakeholders, with the most substantial boost for the owner ( $\beta$ =16.3196, p<0.01), followed by the contractor ( $\beta$ =0.8543, p<0.05) and design consultants ( $\beta$ =1.7256, p>0.1). As for different sizes of organizations, with regards to the subjective BIM performance, the mandatory policy has a significant promotion effect on both large and medium-sized organizations, with the strongest effect for large organizations ( $\beta$ =0.3183, p<0.01). However, for small-sized organizations, there is a negative effect ( $\beta$ =-0.1158, p<0.01). Regarding BIM ROI, the mandatory policy still has the strongest promotion effect for large-sized organizations  $(\beta=19.9145, p<0.01)$ , followed by medium-sized organizations ( $\beta=5.5076, p<0.01$ ), and a negative effect for small organizations ( $\beta$ =-1.2657, p<0.01). Overall, the effects of the mandatory policy are heterogeneous across different stakeholders and organizations of different sizes. Specifically, the promotion effect of mandatory policy on the BIM performance of different stakeholders is the strongest for the owner, followed by contractor and design consultants, and the effect of mandatory policy on the BIM performance of different size organizations is strongest for large-sized organizations, followed by medium-sized organizations and small ones.

| Variables    | Diffe      | erent stakeholde | ers                  | Different sizes |             |            |
|--------------|------------|------------------|----------------------|-----------------|-------------|------------|
| Treated*time | Owner      | Contractor       | Design<br>consultant | Large size      | Medium size | Small size |
| Perave       | 0.2183***  | 0.1055***        | 0.0298               | 0.3183***       | 0.1408**    | -0.1158*** |
| Control      | Yes        | Yes              | Yes                  | Yes             | Yes         | Yes        |
| Constant     | 2.1056***  | 3.1490***        | 2.6359***            | 4.5493***       | 2.7464***   | 2.2119***  |
| R2           | 0.8003     | 0.8495           | 0.7461               | 0.8076          | 0.6216      | 0.8699     |
| Ν            | 1189       | 1318             | 964                  | 1168            | 1018        | 1285       |
| Perroi       | 16.3196*** | 0.8543**         | 1.7256               | 19.9145***      | 5.5076***   | -1.2657*** |
| Control      | Yes        | Yes              | Yes                  | Yes             | Yes         | Yes        |
| Constant     | 49.7174*** | 3.2021***        | 6.6576***            | 16.3708***      | 26.1259***  | 10.5402*** |
| R2           | 0.9069     | 0.9196           | 0.7634               | 0.6314          | 0.6063      | 0.6840     |
| Ν            | 1189       | 1318             | 964                  | 1168            | 1018        | 1285       |

# Table 7 The Results of the Heterogeneity Test

*Note:* \*p < 0.1, \*\*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.01

# **3.3 Research Findings**

This section employed the PSM-DID method to investigate the impact of the first mandatory policy on BIM adoption by the Hong Kong government on the BIM-based project performance of three key stakeholders in the construction industry, drawing the key conclusions as follows.

First, the implementation of the mandatory policy has significantly improved the performance of the BIM-based project in terms of subjective BIM performance and

BIM ROI and thus providing substantial support for the development of the construction industry in the region. Second, from a temporal perspective, the promotion effect of the mandatory policy on BIM-based project performance gradually increases year by year and exhibits a clear dynamicity. Both subjective BIM performance and BIM ROI of the treated group show a gradually increasing trend in the investigated period. Third, from a heterogeneous perspective, the impact of the mandatory policy shows significant heterogeneity across the three stakeholders and organizations of different sizes. Regarding the kinds of stakeholders, the policy has the strongest impact on owners' BIM performance, with contractors second. However, the promotion effect on the design consultants is not significant. These conclusions are in line with Reizgevičius et al. (2018) and Yang and Chou (2018), but are not consistent with the findings of Cao et al. (2015) on a Chinese sample. The aforementioned research concluded that the main beneficiaries of projects using BIM are design consultants and contractors. According to the BIM Adoption Surveys conducted by CIC, it is clear that there are significant differences in the BIM adoption rate and depth of BIM implementation among different stakeholders (CIC, 2020, 2021). Design consultants occupy a significant portion of the leaders in BIM adoption. In contrast to mandatory adoption under policy requirements, BIM adoption behavior of the design side is usually on their initiative. Therefore, the implementation of mandatory policies has little impact on them. At the same time, the Hong Kong BIM mandate allows organizations to subcontract for the demanded BIM use (DEVB, 2018), which gives design parties more opportunity to participate in construction projects as BIM subconsultants (Oti-Sarpong et al., 2020), further exacerbating the already high multilevel subcontracting typical of projects in the Hong Kong construction industry (Chiang, 2009). The increase in the number of subcontracts will undoubtedly dilute the promotion effect of the mandatory policy on the design consultants.

On the other hand, regarding the organization size, the policy has a positive impact on large-size organizations and medium-sized organizations, but a negative impact on small organizations. A series of the literature indicated that small organizations are not as active in BIM adoption (Hosseini et al., 2016; Dainty et al., 2017; Hong et al., 2019; Saka and Chan, 2020; Vidalakis et al., 2020). Specifically, small-sized organizations have to increase their investment with the adoption of BIM in order to respond to the policy requirement. However, compared with the organizations already equipped with leading practices, these organizations are founded to be not familiar enough with BIM and are less confident with their BIM skill (Georgiadou, 2019). At the same time, given the highly collaborative nature of construction projects, payback periods are generally lengthy, which makes the positive impact of the policy on small-sized organizations minimal and potentially more negative.

# 4. Exploring the Impact of Mandatory Policy on the Organizational Performance

### 4.1 Research Methodology

### 4.1.1 Data Collection

The data collection process in this section consisted of the following two parts, a semistructured interview, and a questionnaire survey. First of all, this study compiled a list of SMOs that met the requirements of this study and conducted semi-structured interviews for three months, from September 2022 to December 2022, aiming to understand the BIM adoption status of these organizations. During this period, a total of 80 organizations were visited. After the deep analysis of the organization information, this study finally limited the case sample to 36 SMOs and 38 LOs that could cover different BIM adoption factors. These 74 organizations were invited to participate in a questionnaire survey on BIM adoption factors by email to obtain the quantitative data needed for this study. Before the data was gathered, two rounds of pilot tests were conducted, and the wording and the questionnaire format were improved based on the responses. Finally, 74 valid questionnaires were obtained for the next step of the QCA analysis. The Demographic information of investigated organizations has been demonstrated in the following Table 8.

| Variable               | Category              | Ν  | %     |
|------------------------|-----------------------|----|-------|
| Organization Role      | Main contractor       | 38 | 51.35 |
|                        | Design consultant     | 21 | 28.38 |
|                        | Owner                 | 15 | 20.27 |
| Organization Size      | Large size            | 38 | 52.35 |
|                        | Small and medium size | 36 | 48.65 |
| Organization Ownership | Multi-national        | 24 | 32.43 |
|                        | Local                 | 50 | 67.57 |
| Organization Age       | Under 10 years        | 8  | 10.81 |
|                        | 10-50 years           | 48 | 64.86 |
|                        | 50-100 years          | 12 | 16.23 |
|                        | Above 100 years       | 6  | 8.1   |

#### Table 8 Demographic Information of Samples

*Note:* Organization age refers to the years counted from the organization's established year to the year 2022.

# 4.1.2 Data Measurement

This section uses established calculation formulas or descriptions from the existing literature to measure the BIM adoption level and related influencing factors with minor modifications based on the semi-structured interviews in the sampled firms.

(1) BIM adoption level: According to Young et al. (2007) and Jung and Lee (2016), this study uses the BIM adoption rate to measure the BIM adoption level of the firm, which is determined by the percentage of BIM-based projects among all the projects in a firm. Respondents were asked to give an exact percentage for their BIM adoption level.

(2) Technological conditions: Consistent with the TAM, perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness are two critical dimensions to explain the technological conditions influencing BIM adoption. Perceived usefulness, also referred to as perceived benefits (Davis et al., 1992), highlights the attractive improvements achievable through BIM adoption as perceived by the SMOs (Hong et al., 2018), including improving scheduling, controlling cost, enhancing collaboration, and improving quality, which is measured with the questions "BIM always performs well in improving scheduling/ controlling cost/ enhancing collaboration/ improving quality." Perceived ease of use is measured with three questions adopted from Cao et al. (2014) and Gledson & Greenwood (2017) with the questions "It is easy to learn and on top of BIM" and "BIM is easy and skillful to use to handle work tasks" "In general, it is easy to use BIM."

(3) Organizational conditions: Organizational conditions include three dimensions. The scale of top management support was adapted from Premkumar and Roberts (1999), Ahuja et al. (2016), and Vigneshwar et al. (2022). It included two items. Specific questions include "Top management of this firm always provides supportive climate and resources for the adoption of BIM" and "Top management of this firm is highly interested in adopting BIM." At the same time, the scale of financial capacity was an

adaptation of Ahmed and Kassem (2018), Murguia et al. (2021), and Wu et al. (2021) and included two items. Specific questions include "This firm has sufficient funding for purchasing BIM-related equipment and software" and "This firm has sufficient funding for training BIM employees." Last, the scale of BIM capability was adapted from Cao et al. (2017) and Vigneshwar et al. (2022) and included four items. Specific questions include "our team is experienced in implementing BIM," "Our team is capable of solving the possible technical problems of BIM," "Our team has the knowledge necessary for implementing BIM," and "Our team is familiar with the benefits of BIM tools."

(4) Environmental conditions: According to the results of the interviews, the Hong Kong government plays the same role in promoting BIM adoption in terms of mandatory policies and client demands; in other words, organizations receive most of the pressure from clients in the form of the mandatory policy. Therefore, this study focuses on the pressure from the government and competitors when measuring the environmental conditions affecting BIM adoption. This is consistent with Yang & Chou (2018), who emphasize that BIM adoption results from government and market drivers. The composite measures for these two dimensions were adapted and created based on prior studies (Chen et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2021). Two items measured the government pressure, and specific questions included "The decision about BIM adoption was influenced by the mandatory policy from the government," "In the face of BIM adoption decision, mandatory policy from the government put much pressure on us."

Two items measured the competitor pressure, and specific questions included "Whether competitors have adopted BIM influences the decision to adopt BIM in our firm," "In the face of BIM adoption decision, competitors' BIM adoption behaviors put much pressure on us."

Except for the BIM adoption rate, the questions were designed on 7-point Likert-type agreement scales, with the anchors from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." The descriptive statistics of each variable, correlations, and Cronbach's alpha are shown in Table 9. It can be seen that the values of Cronbach's alpha of the seven conditional variables are all greater than the threshold value of 0.7, indicating that the data in this study have a high degree of reliability.

| Variables | TPU      | TPE      | OTS      | OFC      | OBC      | EGP      | ECP      | BAR  |
|-----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|------|
| TPU       | 0.855    |          |          |          |          |          |          |      |
| TPE       | 0.483*** | 0.816    |          |          |          |          |          |      |
| OTS       | 0.457*** | 0.305**  | 0.892    |          |          |          |          |      |
| OFC       | 0.102    | 0.117**  | 0.632*** | 0.869    |          |          |          |      |
| OBC       | 0.455*** | 0.563*** | 0.301**  | 0.556*** | 0.926    |          |          |      |
| EGP       | 0.221*   | 0.198    | 0.111*   | 0.103    | 0.279*   | 0.855    |          |      |
| ECP       | 0.259**  | 0.146*   | 0.454**  | 0.395**  | 0.177*   | 0.108    | 0.787    |      |
| BAR       | 0.522*** | 0.433*** | 0.515*** | 0.404*** | 0.485*** | 0.322*** | 0.285*** |      |
| Mean      | 5.56     | 5.01     | 5.56     | 5.35     | 5.69     | 5.65     | 4.88     | 0.44 |

Table 9 Descriptive Statistics, Correlations, and Cronbach's Alpha

| SD  | 0.92 | 1.33 | 1.30 | 1.51 | 1.18 | 1.18 | 1.24 | 1.17 |
|-----|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Min | 3    | 2    | 3    | 2    | 3    | 3    | 3    | 0.1  |
| Max | 7    | 7    | 7    | 7    | 7    | 7    | 7    | 0.9  |

*Note:* N = 74; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001; the values of Cronbach's alpha are on the diagonal; TPU = perceived usefulness of the BIM technology; TPE = perceived ease of using BIM technology; OTS = organizational top management support; OFC = organizational financial capacity, OBC = organizational BIM capability, EGP = government pressure from the environment; ECP = competitor pressures from the environment, BAR = BIM adoption rate; same for the following.

# 4.1.3 Data Calibration

Calibration is the first and critical step in performing fsQCA (Ragin, 2008), which requires using theoretical and substantial knowledge to generate a fuzzy-set score relating to the degree of membership in a set (Ragin, 2008). To produce these scores, this study adopts the direct method of calibration to transform the conditions and outcome variables into different member sets (Fiss, 2011; Ragin, 2008). Considering that the conditions were measured by a 7-point Likert scale, this study refers to Ordanini et al. (2014) and Pappas et al. (2016), selecting 6, 4, and 2 as calibration anchors to calibrate the antecedent conditions in the SMOs sample, and draws on Mikalef & Pateli (2017), using 6, 4.5, and 3 as calibration anchors when calibrating the antecedent conditions in LOs sample. Regarding the outcome variable, the 95th, 50th, and 5th percentiles of the outcome were adopted as anchors to calibrate full non-membership, crossover membership, and full membership. Besides, aligned with the practice of Crilly et al. (2012), this study manually changes the value of affiliation from 0.5 to 0.499 instead of modifying all variable values to avoid cases with an affiliation of 0.5
being removed in subsequent fsQCA analysis. The calibration anchor points for the variable are shown in Table 10.

| Variables  | Fully-in |      | Crossover |      | Fully-out |      |
|------------|----------|------|-----------|------|-----------|------|
|            | SMOs     | LOs  | SMOs      | LOs  | SMOs      | LOs  |
| Conditions | 6        | 6    | 4         | 4.5  | 2         | 3    |
| Outcome    | 0.65     | 0.78 | 0.39      | 0.56 | 0.23      | 0.35 |

Table 10 Calibrations of Variables in SMOs and LOs

### 4.2 Analysis and Results

The data analysis in this study was carried out by the software fsQCA 3.0 (Ragin & Davey, 2016), including data calibration, construction of a truth table, necessity analysis, and sufficiency analysis.

## 4.2.1 Necessity Analysis

Necessity analysis is the foundation of configurational path analysis, which means that a condition always exists when an outcome occurs (Ragin & Fiss, 2008). Consistency is a critical indicator to check if there is a necessary or almost always necessary condition to lead to the outcome. Conventionally, the threshold of consistency score is 0.9 (Ragin & Fiss, 2008; Schneider, Schulze-Bentrop, & Paunescu, 2010; Misangyi et al., 2014). In this part, the necessity of the presence and absence of each condition for the presence and absence of the outcome were tested for both the large and small organization samples. As shown in Table 11, none of the conditions is necessary for a high or not-high BIM adoption because all the consistency scores are below the threshold of 0.9 (Ragin, 2008). This finding indicates that the high BIM adoption rate is caused by the combination of technological, organizational, and environmental conditions, not the effect of a single condition. It also shows that the differences in BIM adoption between LOs and SMOs come more from the combination of conditions than from a single condition. It makes sense to discuss the influence of configuration terms on the high level of BIM adoption.

| Conditions | PRESENCE    |      |          |      | ABSENCE     |      |          |      |
|------------|-------------|------|----------|------|-------------|------|----------|------|
|            | Consistency |      | Coverage |      | Consistency |      | Coverage |      |
|            | SMOs        | LOs  | SMOs     | LOs  | SMOs        | LOs  | SMOs     | LOs  |
| TPU        | 0.75        | 0.51 | 0.89     | 0.89 | 0.41        | 0.49 | 0.17     | 0.48 |
| ~TPU       | 0.31        | 0.62 | 0.59     | 0.64 | 0.75        | 0.55 | 0.51     | 0.66 |
| TPE        | 0.62        | 0.81 | 0.91     | 0.74 | 0.32        | 0.68 | 0.17     | 0.68 |
| ~TPE       | 0.43        | 0.32 | 0.63     | 0.63 | 0.83        | 0.56 | 0.44     | 0.66 |
| OTS        | 0.68        | 0.78 | 0.88     | 0.88 | 0.41        | 0.58 | 0.19     | 0.63 |
| ~OTS       | 0.38        | 0.32 | 0.64     | 0.68 | 0.74        | 0.69 | 0.46     | 0.73 |
| OFC        | 0.77        | 0.66 | 0.91     | 0.75 | 0.36        | 0.46 | 0.16     | 0.56 |
| ~OFC       | 0.33        | 0.49 | 0.59     | 0.59 | 0.80        | 0.66 | 0.51     | 0.64 |
| OBC        | 0.65        | 0.51 | 0.92     | 0.93 | 0.32        | 0.56 | 0.16     | 0.62 |
| ~OBC       | 0.41        | 0.72 | 0.62     | 0.69 | 0.83        | 0.65 | 0.46     | 0.66 |
| EGP        | 0.72        | 0.68 | 0.74     | 0.72 | 0.84        | 0.78 | 0.31     | 0.35 |
| ~EGP       | 0.33        | 0.62 | 0.85     | 0.58 | 0.30        | 0.76 | 0.28     | 0.82 |
| ECP        | 0.53        | 0.62 | 0.86     | 0.61 | 0.40        | 0.39 | 0.23     | 0.36 |
| ~ECP       | 0.53        | 0.66 | 0.71     | 0.64 | 0.76        | 0.86 | 0.36     | 0.33 |

 Table 11 Analysis of Necessary Conditions

*Note:* The symbol ~ represents that the condition is absent or at a low level (at a low level, hereafter)

## 4.2.2 Sufficiency Analysis

Sufficiency analysis aims to reveal the logically possible and empirically occurring configurations of fuzzy sets (Greckhamer et al., 2008; Ragin, 2000, 2008). The configuration's explanatory strength in explaining the outcome's presence refers to the consistency scores of sufficiency (Fiss et al., 2013). Before conducting the standard analysis, the truth table was established based on the frequency and consistency thresholds. Referring to Ragin (2008) and Schneider & Wagemann (2012), the threshold of consistency was set as 0.75, and the threshold of frequency of cases per configuration was set as 2 (Fiss, 2011). Based on this, all configurations with a raw consistency above 0.75 and a proportional reduction in inconsistency (PRI) consistency above 0.7 were identified (Ragin, 2008). Table 12 shows five paths that point to high BIM adoption in SMOs and four in LOs. The values of the solution consisting of the SMOs sample and LOs sample are 0.88 and 0.91, respectively. Moreover, the consistency values of nine paths all exceed 0.75, which meets the minimum threshold Ragin (2008) suggested and can be regarded as sufficient. Besides, the solution coverage of high BIM adoption rate solutions in SMOs is 0.48, indicating that these combinations of conditions account for 48% of SMOs. Meanwhile, the solution coverage of 0.68 confirms that four solutions to the high BIM adoption account for 68% of LOs.

| Configurations       |      |      | SMOs |      |      |      | L    | Os   |      |
|----------------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
|                      | SMH1 | SMH2 | SMH3 | SMH4 | SMH5 | LH1  | LH2  | LH3  | LH4  |
| TPU                  | •    | •    | •    |      |      | •    |      |      | •    |
| TPE                  |      |      | 8    | •    | •    |      | •    |      | •    |
| OTS                  | 8    | 8    | •    | •    | •    | •    | •    | •    | •    |
| OFC                  | •    | 8    | •    |      | •    | •    |      | •    |      |
| OBC                  | 8    | •    | •    | •    | •    |      | •    | •    |      |
| EGP                  | •    | •    | •    | •    |      |      | •    | •    | •    |
| ECP                  |      |      |      | •    | •    |      |      |      | •    |
| Raw coverage         | 0.16 | 0.16 | 0.16 | 0.15 | 0.22 | 0.20 | 0.38 | 0.42 | 0.24 |
| Unique<br>coverage   | 0.02 | 0.04 | 0.03 | 0.03 | 0.04 | 0.04 | 0.06 | 0.05 | 0.03 |
| Consistency          | 0.78 | 0.82 | 0.78 | 0.78 | 0.82 | 0.91 | 0.94 | 0.86 | 0.85 |
| Solution coverage    |      |      | 0.48 |      |      |      | 0.   | 68   |      |
| Solution consistency |      |      | 0.88 |      |      |      | 0.   | 91   |      |

 Table 12 Configurational Paths to High BIM Adoption in SMOs and LOs

*Note:* SMH1 = first configuration pointing to high BIM adoption in SMOs, while LH1 = first configuration pointing to high BIM adoption in LOs, same for other places; in line with Fiss (2011), the solutions are demonstrated by their condition structures: black circles indicate the presence of the condition; white circles with a cross mark indicate the absence of the condition; large circles indicate the core condition, which appears in both the parsimonious solution and the intermediate solution; small circles indicate the peripheral condition, which only appears in the intermediate solution; blank spaces mean "do not care"; same for the Table 5.

However, as shown in Table 13, only two configurations leading to low BIM adoption in SMOs were identified, which can explain 22% of the SMOs with a low BIM adoption level.

| Configurations       | SML1      | SML2      |
|----------------------|-----------|-----------|
| TPU                  |           | 8         |
| TPE                  | $\otimes$ |           |
| OTS                  |           |           |
| OFC                  | $\otimes$ |           |
| OBC                  |           | $\otimes$ |
| EGP                  | •         |           |
| ECP                  |           | •         |
| Raw coverage         | 0.14      | 0.12      |
| Unique coverage      | 0.03      | 0.02      |
| Consistency          | 0.82      | 0.78      |
| Solution coverage    |           | 0.22      |
| Solution consistency |           | 0.84      |

Table 13 Configurational Paths to Low BIM Adoption in SMOs

## **4.3 Research Findings**

The following section reported these configurations presented above and identifies the complementary (Milgrom & Roberts, 1995), substitution, and suppression (Fiss, 2011) relationships among the conditions. To describe the configurations below, this study uses the symbol \* to represent the logical operation AND and the symbol ~ to represent that the condition is absent or at a low level (at a low level, hereafter).

## 4.3.1 Configurations for High BIM Adoption in SMOs

It can be seen that four of the five configurations contain government pressure, which is the core condition for achieving high BIM adoption in SMH 1, 2, and 3, indicating that mandatory policy is a powerful enabler and is playing a critical role in promoting BIM adoption in the Hong Kong construction industry.

SMH1 (TPU\*~OTS\*OFC\*~OBC\*EGP\*) shows a combination of organizational financial capacity, government pressure as core conditions, and perceived usefulness as the peripheral condition in a complementary way can lead to high BIM adoption rate when organizational top management support and organizational BIM capability are absent. This solution can explain 16% of the cases with a high BIM adoption rate.

SMH2 (TPU\*~OTS\*~OFC\*OBC\*EGP) indicates a combination of organizational BIM capability, government pressure as core conditions, and perceived usefulness as the peripheral condition in a complementary way can result in high BIM adoption rate when organizational top management support and organizational financial capacity are absent. Comparing SMH 1 and SMH 2, with perceived usefulness as the peripheral condition, government pressure as the core condition, and organizational top management support absent, there is a clear substitutability relationship between organizational financial capacity and organizational BIM capability. The second configuration can explain 16% of the cases with a high BIM adoption rate. SMH 3 (TPU\*~TPE\*OTS\*OFC\*OBC\*EGP) reflects a combination of organizational financial capacity and government pressure as the core conditions and perceived usefulness, organizational top management support, and organizational BIM capability as peripheral conditions in a complementary way can achieve a high BIM adoption rate in the absence of perceived ease of use. This configuration can explain 16% of cases with a high BIM adoption rate.

SMH 4 (TPE\*OTS\*OBC\*EGP\*ECP) shows a combination of competitor pressure as the core condition and perceived ease of use, organizational top management support, organizational BIM capability, and government pressure as the peripheral conditions in a complementary way can lead to high BIM adoption rate. This configuration can explain 15% of cases with a high BIM adoption rate.

SMH 5 (TPE\*OTS\*OFC\*OBC\*ECP) presents a combination of competitor pressure as the core condition and perceived ease of use, organizational top management support, organizational financial capacity, and organizational BIM capability as peripheral conditions in a complementary way can facilitate a high BIM adoption rate. Comparing SMH4 and SMH5, it can be found that there is a substitution relationship between government pressure and organizational financial capacity in the context of higher competitor pressure. This configuration can explain 22% of cases with a high BIM adoption rate.

## 4.3.2 Configurations for High BIM Adoption in LOs

Similar to BIM adoption in SMOs, in a sample of LOs, three of the four configurations contain government pressure, which is the core condition for leading high BIM adoption in LH2, LH3, and LH4, meaning that the main booster of BIM adoption in LOs is also mandatory policy.

LH1 (TPU\*OTS\*OFC) presents that a combination of perceived usefulness, organizational top management support as the core conditions, and organizational financial capacity as the peripheral condition in a complementary way can achieve high BIM adoption in LOs. Regarding the composition of this configuration, if top managers in organizations are fully aware of the potential benefits of using BIM in projects and are highly supportive of BIM adoption, the organizations will use BIM in most of their projects, supported by the organizations' financial capacity. These organizations usually have a high level of self-efficacy in BIM adoption and are leaders in the digital transformation in the Hong Kong construction industry. This configuration can explain 20% of cases with a high BIM adoption level.

LH2 (TPE\*OTS\*OBC\*EGP) shows a combination of government pressure as the core condition and perceived ease of use, organizational top management support, and organizational BIM capability as the peripheral conditions in a complementary way that

can lead to high BIM adoption in LOs. This configuration can explain 38% of cases with a high BIM adoption rate.

LH3 (OTS\*OFC\*OBC\*EGP) displays that a combination of government pressure as the core condition and organizational top management support, organizational financial capacity, and organizational BIM capability as the peripheral conditions in a complementary way can result in a high BIM adoption rate in LOs. Compared with LH2, it is likely that a substitution relationship exists between perceived ease of use and organizational financial capacity under high government pressure. In LH3, organizational financial capacity replaces perceived ease of use, and together with organizational top management support, organizational BIM capability, and government pressure, it contributes to high BIM adoption rates in LOs. In other words, under high government pressure, organizations will invest financial resources to overcome difficulties in technology use and cater to policy requirements even if their perceived ease of use of BIM is lower. This configuration can explain 42% of cases with a high BIM adoption rate.

LH4 (TPU\*TPE\*OTS\*EGP\*ECP) indicates a combination of competitor pressure as the core condition and perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, organizational top management support, and government pressure as the peripheral conditions in a complementary way pointing to high BIM adoption outcome in LOs. The path suggests that when high BIM adoption is market-driven, organizations are usually attracted by the advantages of the technology. Organizations adopt BIM to establish technological leadership advantages to improve or maintain market competitiveness. Meanwhile, it is essential to note that in LH4, government pressure is still working as a complementary condition, which indicates that the mandatory pressure promotes the marketization of BIM to a certain extent and, together with the competitor pressure, promotes the full adoption of BIM in the construction industry. This configuration can explain 24% of cases with a high BIM adoption rate.

## 4.3.3 Configurations for Low BIM Adoption in SMOs

As for the low BIM adoption, there are two configurations, SML1 (~TPE\*~OFC\*EGP) and SML2 (~TPU\*~OBC\*ECP). It is apparent from Table 12 that, in the absence of some technological conditions and organizational conditions, perceived ease of use and organizational financial capacity in SML1, and perceived usefulness and organizational BIM capability in SML2, the promotion effect of government pressure (see SML1) and competitor pressure (see SML2) on BIM adoption will fail to perform and exhibit policy failure or market failure to some degree. In SML1, the lack of perceived ease of use and organizational financial capacity offset the promotion effect of government pressure on BIM adoption, while in SML2, the absence of perceived usefulness and organizational BIM capability tends to suppress the positive effect of competitor

pressure on BIM adoption. Overall, SML1 can explain 14% of cases with a low BIM adoption rate in SMOs, while SML2 explains 12% of cases with a low BIM adoption rate in SMOs.

## 4.3.4 Comparative Analysis of the Configurations in SMOs and LOs

#### Similarities of the configurations in SMOs and LOs

When looking at the similarities in the configurations, first, both in SMOs and LOs, there is no necessary condition to guarantee a high BIM adoption outcome, which is caused by the combination of technological, organizational, and environmental conditions. Moreover, government pressure in the form of mandatory policy is the dominant condition in bringing about a high BIM adoption both in LOs and SMOs. At the same time, the results of this study also indicate that, for LOs and SMOs, marketdriven and government-driven paths coexist.

## **Differences in the configurations in SMOs and LOs**

The differences in the configurations of SMOs and LOs exist in the following three aspects. In terms of the structure of configurations, the compositions of SMOs are relatively complex while simpler in LOs. Specifically, the four paths in LOs are pretty independent, as it is hard to identify the substitution or suppression relationships that exist among conditions, except for the substitution relationship between perceived ease of use and organizational financial capacity in LH2 and LH3, while in SMOs, substitution and suppression relationships between different conditions are more prevalent, as shown in Figure 8.



Figure 8 The Substitution and Suppression Relationships Between Conditions

*Note:* Solid arrows indicate substitution (on the left) and hollow arrows indicate suppression (on the right).

Furthermore, the core conditions in SMOs are dominated by the external environment, and BIM adoption is mainly promoted by external conditions; the potential for the collaborative domination of technological conditions and organizational conditions exists in LOs. As far as the three aspects of conditions are concerned, for SMOs, although there is still high BIM adoption when organizational conditions are absent (SMH1, SMH2, SMH4) or technological conditions are absent (SMH3), when both organizational and technological conditions are absent and performs as core conditions in the configurations (SML1, SML2), the BIM adoption of these SMOs is low. In this sense, in addition to the external environment, organizational conditions, especially organizational financial capacity, and organizational BIM capability, are still critical for SMOs to achieve high BIM adoption. Furthermore, for the LOs, an interesting finding is that organizational top management support emerges in all configurations, pointing to high BIM adoption. LOs can achieve a high BIM adoption rate with organizational top management support and perceived ease of use as core conditions and organizational financial capacity as the peripheral conditions. Regrettably, however, the presence of organizational top management support is not necessary for high BIM adoption, and the absence of organizational top management support is not necessary for low BIM adoption either. In contrast, LOs and SMOs are complementary in three organizational conditions, i.e., organizational BIM capability and financial capacity are more critical for BIM adoption in SMOs, because SMOs are always a constraint in these two aspects. While organizational top management support is more important for high BIM adoption in LOs, as the organizational structure and decision-making process of LOs are relatively complicated. At the same time, this means that the adoption of BIM in the LOS is more likely to face resistance from organizational structures and workflow, which is more flexible in SMOs.

Last but not least, the most prominent finding to emerge from this study is that there is no configuration leading to low BIM adoption in LOs. Although high BIM adoption is driven by the three dimensions of the "technology-organization-environment," there are no systemic explanations for low BIM adoption in LOs. The reasons for the low BIM adoption rate of LOs may be too dispersed to identify combinations of conditions with a powerful explanation.

## 5. Policy Implications and Recommendations

The application of innovative technologies such as BIM is the development trend in Hong Kong. However, based on the empirical analysis results of this study and the current situation of the Hong Kong construction industry, BIM application and implementation still face a series of problems and challenges. Given this, relevant policy suggestions are proposed from the following four aspects to effectively facilitate the diffusion of BIM in the regional construction industry and, in turn, promote the market competitiveness of the Hong Kong construction industry in the application of related innovative technologies.

## 5.1 Formulating Policy Portfolios to Enhance the Adaptability of BIM Policies to the Multiplicity of Institutions in the Regional Construction Industry

According to the above analysis result, the current BIM policies have a low coverage for small and medium-sized organizations. To be specific, QCA analysis results show that the combinations of conditions that promote BIM adoption in LOs and SMOs exists significant differences. This research elaborated five configurations pointing to high BIM adoption and two configurations pointing to low BIM adoption in the sample of 36 SMOs, and four configurations pointing to high BIM adoption and no path leading to low BIM adoption in the sample of 38 LOs. At the same time, as visualized in Figure 9, the gap in BIM adoption rates between LOs and SMOs is growing year by year. In addition, the results of the PSM-DID heterogeneity analysis indicated that compared with SMOs, the LOs are more likely to realize more benefits by adopting BIM in their projects. These results indicate that although the mandatory policy directly promotes the adoption of BIM in the construction industry, the performance of SMOs in applying BIM projects has not been significantly improved compared to LOs' mature BIM application practices. The organization's BIM capabilities and position in BIM-based collaborative network projects remain peripheral and have not benefitted well from the policy. Given the critical role of SMOs in contributing to the Hong Kong construction industry, future policies should be appropriately tilted towards SMOs, supplementing the current policy framework with more precise support initiatives to facilitate the application of BIM throughout the regional construction industry.



Figure 9 Evolution of BIM Adoption Rate Distribution by Organization Size

Therefore, to eliminate the "digital divide" in BIM adoption practices between LOs and SMOs in the regional construction industry, government agencies are suggested to shift the focus of policy formulation from projects to organizations and develop more specific support and incentive policies based on the organizational characteristics of SMOs to help them better benefit from BIM adoption. An essential aspect of these measures is setting up policy portfolios based on the five configurations identified in this study to meet SMOs' diversified needs and help them improve their project performance. At the same time, the effectiveness of the policy can be significantly enhanced by pairing it with a series of pilot programs, from point to surface, promoting it in the industry based on the policy outcome and performance of the pilot organization.

# 5.2 Formulating Learning Strategies and Establishing Communication Platforms to Promote the Further Diffusion and Implementation of BIM in Hong Kong

The analysis result also provides clear evidence that organizational learning and knowledge management are critical steps to promote the successful implementation of BIM both in SMOs and LOs. In detail, regarding SMOs, in the configurations with perceived usefulness as the peripheral condition, government pressure as the core condition, and organizational top management support absent, there is a clear substitutability relationship between organizational financial capacity and organizational BIM capability. Hence, SMOs can compensate for their weaknesses in financial capability through enhanced learning and effective knowledge management. At the same time, the absence of BIM capability is found to be the core condition leading to low BIM adoption according to one of the configurations. More importantly, organizational BIM capability exists as core or peripheral conditions in four of five configurations that result in high BIM adoption. Meanwhile, concerning LOs, organizational top management support seems more vital for them to implement BIM within an organization as this condition is included in all five configurations that result in high BIM adoption for this result is that the organization structure of LOs is more complex, which makes it necessary to spend a lot of time on organization structure and operation process changes.

As such, although some relevant bodies like the Hong Kong Institute of Building Information Modelling (HKIBIM) and Construction Industry Council (CIC) have made some efforts to improve their member organizations' BIM skills and knowledge, including regular BIM workshops, seminars, and technical forums, there is still a need for a long-term plan for the industry to learn BIM-related knowledge in the future. In detail, government agencies are suggested to provide more training opportunities, proactively open courses and activities on advanced building innovations, and set more targeted and instructive training programs to better provide technical support. At the same time, the government can also guide enterprises to establish learning organizations, and direct team members to carry out internal knowledge exchanges to achieve effective transformation of training results. In addition, this study advocates the government to invest more in the training of BIM talents, or encourage organizations to establish a long-term partnership with local universities to provide professional and technical talent for the construction industry.

# 5.3 Introducing Diversified Supportive Initiatives to Mitigate the Uneven Trend among Different Organizations in BIM Application

In general, the implementation of mandatory policies improved the performance of companies' BIM-based projects in terms of subjective BIM performance and BIM ROI. As shown in Figures 10-13, the annual average BIM ROI (Figures 10 and 11) and annual average BIM subjective performance (Figures 12 and 13) show an increasing tendency during 2015-2021. However, the impact of the mandatory policy presents apparent heterogeneity across the three types of organizations. Empirical results show that, regarding the types of organizations, the policy has the strongest impact on the owners' BIM performance, followed is the contractors. However, the promotion effect on the design consultants is not significant.



Figure 10 Evolution of BIM ROI Distribution by Organization Role



Figure 11 Evolution of BIM ROI Distribution by Organization Size

The above results are also evident from the magnitude of changes in the bars representing the three stakeholders in Figure 11 and Figure 13. Concerning organizations of different sizes, the results indicate that the policy has a positive impact on large-size organizations and medium-sized organizations but a limited impact on small organizations. The changing magnitude in the bars in Figure 11 and Figure 13 has also provided explanations for the differences in the BIM-based project performance of organizations of different sizes. Both the objective assessment of BIM benefits and subjective perception will strongly influence the organizations' BIM adoption behavior in the future. The above trends on the divergent performance of BIM application in the construction industry and hinder the deep diffusion of BIM in Hong Kong.



Figure 12 Evolution of BIM Subjective Performance Distribution by Organization Role



Figure 13 Evolution of BIM Subjective Performance Distribution by Organization Size

Therefore, it is necessary to introduce some diversified supportive initiatives to mitigate the negative effect of the uneven trend to increase the interest of participating parties in adopting BIM and further increase the prevalence of the positive outcome of mandatory policies. To be specific, for inter-organization communication, on the one hand, the government can establish a BIM communication platform and regularly invite companies with mature BIM application practices to share their experiences. Effective communication is the key to improving the positive results of innovative technology applications, it will also help to strengthen the knowledge of BIM for companies that are relatively lagging at the present stage. At the same time, companies with wellperforming BIM-based projects can be showcased as industry benchmarks to strengthen the organization's perception of the economic and social benefits of BIM implementation. On the other hand, the government is also suggested to consider holding regular BIM-related knowledge and technology competitions to promote communication and technology learning among different companies and thus reinforce their understanding of BIM applications. Specifically, the government can qualify organizations for BIM technology based on the results of the competition. Meanwhile, to promote effective collaboration among organizations, the government can encourage SMOs to establish BIM alliances on their initiative. The government can also try to introduce joint bidding projects in some specific public projects to provide SMOs with more opportunities for conversion and application of learning achievements. Thus to further promote the proliferation of BIM-related knowledge in the Hong Kong construction industry.

# 5.4 Establishing a Comprehensive Evaluation System to Ensure the Effectiveness of BIM-Related Policies

Since this study is the first attempt to examine the impact of policy interventions on BIM-based project performance in Hong Kong, the results of the study can also provide a basis for future innovative-related policy formulation. The results of this study indicate that the impact of BIM mandatory policy shows obvious heterogeneity among different stakeholders and organizations of different sizes. In detail, design consultants and small organizations are not well-positioned to benefit from the positive effects of mandatory BIM policy implementation. The effectiveness of the policy still needs to be strengthened. Therefore, based on this, this study suggests that in the process of formulation of BIM-related policies, it is necessary to establish a set of corresponding policy evaluation systems and develop evaluation indicators based on policy objectives and establish a long-term tracking mechanism to gain a comprehensive understanding of the impact produced by policy interventions and thus enhance the effectiveness of policies. In detail, the government and its affiliated organizations are suggested to conduct regular investigations and collect feedback from the industry in phases during the policy implementation process, to record and summarize the issues related to the implementation of the policy at different stages. It is also advisable to invite industry professionals to share their insights by organizing seminars and other activities after the policy has been implemented for a period of time.

## 6. Conclusions and Effectiveness of the Research Project

## 6.1. Conclusions

This research aims to provide a systemic summary of BIM initiatives taken by the public sector and examine how the public policy impacted the BIM adoption and implementation practices in the Hong Kong construction industry. Based on the data analysis results of PSM-DID analysis and case study, the research team has successfully assessed the impacts of the first BIM mandatory policy issued by the Hong Kong government. The analysis result reveals that the policy has achieved greater BIM diffusion in the regional construction industry, However, the implementation of the policy was accompanied by some unintended consequences. The major findings of this research are as follows.

1) Based on the analysis result of PSM-DID research on the panel data from 2015-2020 of 584 organizations, this study has successfully investigated the impact of the first mandatory policy on the BIM-based project performance of three major types of organizations in the construction industry. The implementation of the mandatory policy has significantly improved the performance of the BIM-based project in terms of subjective BIM performance and BIM ROI, providing substantial support for the development of the construction industry in the region. From a temporal perspective, the promotion effect of the mandatory policy on BIM-based project performance gradually increases year by year and exhibits a clear dynamicity. Both subjective BIM performance and BIM ROI of the treated group show a gradually increasing trend in the investigated period.

2) The analysis result of PSM-DID also reveals that, from a heterogeneous perspective, the impact of the mandatory policy shows significant heterogeneity across the three kinds of organizations and organizations of different sizes. On one hand, the policy has a significant impact on owners' BIM performance, with contractors second. However, the promotion effect on the design consultants is not significant. Regarding the organization size, the policy also shows a positive impact on large-size organizations and medium-sized organizations. However, it has limited effect on enhancing the practice of BIM application for small organizations.

3) This research also explored the promotion mechanism of BIM adoption in the Hong Kong construction industry from a configuration perspective according to the result of the quantitive analysis of 74 organizations. The analysis result reveals that there is no necessary condition to result in a high or low BIM adoption rate caused by the combination of technological, organizational, and environmental conditions. Specifically, five configurations led to high BIM adoption in SMOs, four configurations led to high BIM adoption in LOs, and two configurations resulted in low BIM adoption in SMOs has been found.

4) The analysis results also provide evidence that government pressure in the form of mandatory policies plays a dominant role in generating high BIM adoption rates. And when competitor pressure is complemented by technical and organizational conditions, BIM adoption can be promoted in certain circumstances. Overall, the adoption of BIM in SMOs and LOs is primarily driven by the external environment, where governmentdriven and market-driven forces co-exist.

Based on these above empirical findings, the following four aspects of policy suggestions are specifically proposed to facilitate the development of BIM in Hong Kong: 1) Formulating policy portfolios to enhance the adaptability of BIM policies to the multiplicity of institutions in the regional construction industry; 2) Formulating learning strategies and establishing communication platforms to promote the further diffusion and implementation of BIM in Hong Kong; 3) Introducing diversified supportive initiatives to mitigate the uneven trend among different organizations in BIM application; 4) Establishing a comprehensive evaluation system to ensure the effectiveness of BIM-related policies

## 6.2. Effectiveness of the Research Project

Table 14 summarized the research objectives achieved in this research project. The three originally proposed objectives have been satisfactorily achieved.

| Code        | Proposed objectives  | Achievements  |
|-------------|--|---|
| Objective 1 | To investigate and summarize the relevant<br>BIM initiatives taken by the public sector in<br>the Hong Kong construction industry  | Achieved. The research findings<br>have summarized and illustrated<br>the relevant BIM initiatives in<br>Section 2.1.   |
| Objective 2 | To illustrate and compare BIM adoption<br>behavior among organizations in the Hong<br>Kong construction industry before and after the<br>implementation of the mandatory policy.   | Achieved. The research findings<br>on the impacts of relationship<br>networks on organizational BIM<br>implementation practices of<br>design consultants and main<br>contractors are presented in<br>Section 4.3. |
| Objective 3 | To recommend strategies to facilitate the<br>diffusion of BIM among organizations in Hong<br>Kong based on the propensity score matching<br>difference-in-difference analysis and<br>qualitative comparative analysis results. | Achieved. As shown in Section 5,<br>a total of four aspects of strategies<br>have been proposed.  |

| Ta | 14 Summary of the Objectives Achieved in this Research Project |
|----|--|
|    |  |

## Reference

- Abanda, F.H. and Tah, J.H.M. (2014), "Free and open source building information modelling for developing countries", Proceedings of the ICT for Africa 2014 Conference, Yaoundé.
- Abbasnejad, B., Nepal, M. P., Ahankoob, A., Nasirian, A. and Drogemuller, R. (2021), "Building Information Modelling (BIM) adoption and implementation enablers in AEC firms: a systematic literature review", Architectural Engineering and Design Management, Vol. 17 No. 5-6, pp. 411-433.
- Adriaanse, A., Voordijk, H. and Dewulf, G. (2010), "The use of interorganisational ICT in United States construction projects", Automation in Construction, Vol. 19 No. 1, pp. 73-83.
- Ahmed, A. L. and Kassem, M. (2018), "A unified BIM adoption taxonomy: conceptual development, empirical validation and application", Automation in Construction, Vol. 96 No. pp. 103-127. Abadie, A. and Imbens, G. W. (2006), "Large sample properties of matching estimators for average treatment effects", *Econometrica*, Vol. 74 No. 1, pp. 235-267.
- Ahuja, R., Sawhney, A., Jain, M., Arif, M. and Rakshit, S. (2020), "Factors influencing BIM adoption in emerging markets-the case of India", International Journal of Construction Management, Vol. 20 No. 1, pp. 65-76.
- Alshawi, M. and Ingirige, B. (2003), "Web-enabled project management: an emerging paradigm in construction", *Automation in Construction*, Vol. 12 No. 4, pp. 349-364.
- Al-Ashmori, Y. Y., Othman, I., Rahmawati, Y., Amran, Y. M., Sabah, S. A., Rafindadi, A. D. U. and Mikić, M. (2020), "BIM benefits and its influence on the BIM implementation in Malaysia", Ain Shams Engineering Journal, Vol. 11 No. 4, pp. 1013-1019.
- Almuntaser, T., Sanni-Anibire, M. O. and Hassanain, M. A. (2018), "Adoption and implementation of BIM–case study of a Saudi Arabian AEC firm", International Journal of Managing Projects in Business, Vol. 11 No. 3, pp. 608-624.
- Aranda-Mena, G., Crawford, J., Chevez, A. and Froese, T. (2009), "Building information modelling demystified: does it make business sense to adopt BIM?", *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, Vol. 2 No. 3, pp. 419-434.
- Arayici, Y., Coates, P., Koskela, L., Kagioglou, M., Usher, C. and O'Reilly, K. (2011), "BIM adoption and implementation for architectural practices", Structural Survey, Vol. 29 No. 1, pp. 7-25.
- Austin, P. C. (2010), "Statistical criteria for selecting the optimal number of untreated subjects matched to each treated subject when using many-to-one matching on the propensity score", *American Journal of Epidemiology*, Vol. 172 No. 9, pp. 1092-1097.
- Austin, P. C. (2011), "An introduction to propensity score methods for reducing the effects of confounding in observational studies", *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, Vol. 46 No. 3, pp. 399-424.

- Autodesk (2012), "Return on Investment with Autodesk Revit", available at: <u>http://usa.autodesk.com/adsk/servlet/pc/index?siteID=123112&id=17905120</u> (accessed 8 February 2023).
- Azhar, S. (2011), "Building information modeling (BIM): trends, benefits, risks, and challenges for the AEC industry", *Leadership Management in Engineering*, Vol. 11 No. 3, pp. 241-252.
- Azhar, S., Khalfan, M. and Maqsood, T. (2012), "Building information modeling (BIM): now and beyond", Australasian Journal of Construction Economics and Building, Vol. 12 No. 4, pp. 15-28.
- Babatunde, S. O., Ekundayo, D., Adekunle, A. O. and Bello, W. (2020), "Comparative analysis of drivers to BIM adoption among AEC firms in developing countries: a case of Nigeria", Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology, Vol. 18 No. 6, pp. 1425-1447.
- Barlish, K. and Sullivan, K. (2012), "How to measure the benefits of BIM—a case study approach", *Automation in Construction*, Vol. 24 pp. 149-159.
- Becerik-Gerber, B. and Rice, S. (2010), "The perceived value of building information modeling in the US building industry", *Journal of Information Technology in Construction (ITcon)*, Vol. 15 No. 15, pp. 185-201.
- Belay, S., Goedert, J., Woldesenbet, A. and Rokooei, S. (2021), "Comparison of BIM adoption models between public and private sectors through empirical investigation", Advances in Civil Engineering, Vol. 2021 No. pp. 1-13.
- Benjaoran, V. (2009), "A cost control system development: a collaborative approach for small and medium-sized contractors", International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 27 No. 3, pp. 270-277.
- Blanco, F. G. B. and Chen, H. (2014), "The implementation of building information modelling in the United Kingdom by the transport industry", Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, Vol. 138 No. pp. 510-520.
- Bodin, Ö. and Crona, B. I. (2009), "The role of social networks in natural resource governance: What relational patterns make a difference?", *Global Environmental Change*, Vol. 19 No. 3, pp. 366-374.
- Bovaird, T. (2014), "Attributing outcomes to social policy interventions-'gold standard'or 'fool's gold'in public policy and management?", *Social Policy and Administration*, Vol. 48 No. 1, pp. 1-23.
- Bristow, G. and Healy, A. (2014), "Building resilient regions: complex adaptive systems and the role of policy intervention", *Raumforschung und Raumordnung* Spatial Research and Planning, Vol. 72 No. 2, pp. 93-102.
- Bryde, D., Broquetas, M. and Volm, J. M. (2013), "The project benefits of building information modelling (BIM)", *International Journal of Project Management*, Vol. 31 No. 7, pp. 971-980.
- Caliendo, M. and Kopeinig, S. (2008), "Some practical guidance for the implementation of propensity score matching", *Journal of Economic Surveys*, Vol. 22 No. 1, pp. 31-72.
- Cao, D., Li, H. and Wang, G. (2014), "Impacts of isomorphic pressures on BIM adoption in construction projects", Journal of Construction Engineering and

Management, Vol. 140 No. 12, pp. 04014056.

- Cao, D., Wang, G., Li, H., Skitmore, M., Huang, T. and Zhang, W. (2015), "Practices and effectiveness of building information modelling in construction projects in China", *Automation in Construction*, Vol. 49 pp. 113-122.
- Cao, D., Li, H., Wang, G. and Huang, T. (2017), "Identifying and contextualising the motivations for BIM implementation in construction projects: an empirical study in China", International Journal of Project Management, Vol. 35 No. 4, pp. 658-669.
- Cao, D., Li, H., Wang, G., Luo, X. and Tan, D. (2018), "Relationship network structure and organizational competitiveness: evidence from BIM implementation practices in the construction industry", Journal of Management in Engineering, Vol. 34 No. 3, pp. 04018005.
- Chaminade, C. and Esquist, C. (2010), "Rationales for public policy intervention in the innovation process: systems of innovation approach", *The Theory and Practice of Innovation Policy*. Edward Elgar Publishing, Massachusetts.
- Chan, D. W., Olawumi, T. O. and Ho, A. M. (2019), "Perceived benefits of and barriers to Building Information Modelling (BIM) implementation in construction: the case of Hong Kong", *Journal of Building Engineering*, Vol. 25 pp. 100764.
- Chen, Y., Yin, Y., Browne, G.J. and Li, D. (2019), "Adoption of building information modeling in Chinese construction industry: the technology-organizationenvironment framework", Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, Vol. 26 No. 9, pp. 1878-1898.
- Cheng, J. C. and Lu, Q. (2015), "A review of the efforts and roles of the public sector for BIM adoption worldwide", Journal of Information Technology in Construction (ITcon), Vol. 20 No. 27, pp. 442-478.
- Chiang, Y. H. (2009), "Subcontracting and its ramifications: a survey of the building industry in Hong Kong", *International Journal of Project Management*, Vol. 27 No. 1, pp. 80-88.
- COHURDM (2017), Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development Statics Report 2017, available at:https://www.mohurd.gov.cn/
- Construction Industry Council (2014), "BIM Adoption Survey 2014" available at: https://www.cic.hk/cic\_data/files/CIC-BIM2014\_Booklet.pdf
- Construction Industry Council (2020), "BIM Adoption Survey 2019", available at: <u>https://www.bim.cic.hk/en/resources/publications\_detail/73</u> (accessed 8 February 2023).
- Construction Industry Council (2021), "BIM Adoption Survey 2020" <u>https://www.bim.cic.hk/en/resources/publications\_detail/87</u> (accessed 8 February 2023).
- Cox, D. R. (1970), The Analysis of Binary Data. Methuen, London.
- Crilly, D., Zollo, M. and Hansen, M. T. (2012), "Faking it or muddling through? Understanding decoupling in response to stakeholder pressures", Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 55 No. 6, pp. 1429-1448.
- Crotty, R. (2012), The Impact of Building Information Modelling-Transforming Construction, Routledge, New York, NY.

- Cushman, M. and Mclean, R. (2008), "Exclusion, inclusion and changing the face of information systems research", *Information Technology and People*, Vol.21 No. 3 pp. 213-221
- Dainty, A., Leiringer, R., Fernie, S. and Harty, C. (2017), "BIM and the small construction firm: a critical perspective", *Building Research and Information*, Vol. 45 No. 6, pp. 696-709.
- Davis, F. D. (1989), "Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology", MIS Quarterly, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 319-340.
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P. and Warshaw, P. R. (1992), "Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation to use computers in the workplace", Journal of Applied Social Psychology, Vol. 22 No. 14, pp. 1111-1132.
- Development Bureau (2017), "Technical Circular (Works) No. 7/2017", available at: <u>https://www.devb.gov.hk/filemanager/technicalcirculars/en/upload/354/1/C-2017-07-01.pdf</u> (accessed 8 February 2023).
- Development Bureau (2018), "Technical Circular (Works) No. 18/2018", available at: <u>https://www.devb.gov.hk/filemanager/technicalcirculars/en/upload/366/1/C-</u>2018-18-01.pdf (accessed 8 February 2023).
- Ding, Z., Zuo, J., Wu, J. and Wang, J. (2015), "Key factors for the BIM adoption by architects: a China study", Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, Vol. 22 No. 6, pp. 732-748.
- Doumbouya, L., Gao, G. and Guan, C. (2016), "Adoption of the Building Information Modeling (BIM) for construction project effectiveness: the review of BIM benefits", *American Journal of Civil Engineering and Architecture*, Vol. 4 No. 3, pp. 74-79.
- Eadie, R., Odeyinka, H., Browne, M., Mckeown, C. and Yohanis, M. (2013), "An analysis of the drivers for adopting building information modelling", Journal of Information Technology in Construction, Vol. 18 No. 17, pp. 338-352.
- Eastman, C., Teicholz, P., Sacks, R. and Liston, K. (2011), BIM Handbook: A Guide to Building Information Modeling for Owners, Managers, Designers, Engineers, and Contractors, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Evans, S., Vladimirova, D., Holgado, M., Van Fossen, K., Yang, M., Silva, E. A. and Barlow, C. Y. (2017), "Business model innovation for sustainability: towards a unified perspective for creation of sustainable business models", *Business Strategy and the Environment*, Vol. 26 No. 5, pp. 597-608.
- Faisal Shehzad, H. M., Binti Ibrahim, R., Yusof, A. F., Mohamed Khaidzir, K. A., Shawkat, S. and Ahmad, S. (2022), "Recent developments of BIM adoption based on categorization, identification and factors: a systematic literature review", International Journal of Construction Management, Vol. 22 No. 15, pp. 3001-3013.
- Fan, F. and Zhang, X. (2021), "Transformation effect of resource-based cities based on PSM-DID model: an empirical analysis from China", *Environmental Impact* Assessment Review, Vol. 91 pp. 106648.
- Farnsworth, C. B., Beveridge, S., Miller, K. R. and Christofferson, J. P. (2015), "Application, advantages, and methods associated with using BIM in

commercial construction", International Journal of Construction Education and Research, Vol. 11 No. 3, pp. 218-236.

- Franz, B. and Messner, J. (2019), "Evaluating the impact of building information modeling on project performance", *Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering*, Vol. 33 No. 3, pp. 04019015.
- Fiss, P. C. (2011), "Building better causal theories: a fuzzy set approach to typologies in organization research", Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 54 No. 2, pp. 393-420.
- Fiss, P. C., Sharapov, D. and Cronqvist, L. (2013), "Opposites attract? Opportunities and challenges for integrating large-N QCA and econometric analysis", Political Research Quarterly, Vol. 66 No. 1, pp. 191-198.
- Fu, Y., He, C. and Luo, L. (2021), "Does the low-carbon city policy make a difference? Empirical evidence of the pilot scheme in China with DEA and PSM-DID", *Ecological Indicators*, Vol. 122 pp. 107238.
- Gao J, Fischer M. Framework and case studies comparing implementations and impacts of 3D/4D modeling across projects[D]. Stanford University, 2008.
- Gao, K.and Yuan, Y. (2021), "The effect of innovation-driven development on pollution reduction: empirical evidence from a quasi-natural experiment in China", *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, Vol. 172 pp. 121047.
- Gebel, M. and Voßemer, J. (2014), "The impact of employment transitions on health in Germany: a difference-in-differences propensity score matching approach", *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 108 pp. 128-136.
- Georgiadou, M. C. (2019), "An overview of benefits and challenges of building information modelling (BIM) adoption in UK residential projects", *Construction Innovation*, Vol. 19 No.3 pp. 298-320.
- Ghaffarianhoseini, A., Tookey, J., Ghaffarianhoseini, A., Naismith, N., Azhar, S., Efimova, O. and Raahemifar, K. (2017), "Building Information Modelling (BIM) uptake: clear benefits, understanding its implementation, risks and challenges", *Renewable Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Vol. 75 pp. 1046-1053.
- Giel B K, Issa R R A. Return on investment analysis of using building information modeling in construction[J]. Journal of computing in civil engineering, 2013, 27(5): 511-521.
- Gledson, B.J. and Greenwood, D. (2017), "The adoption of 4D BIM in the UK construction industry: an innovation diffusion approach", *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, Vol. 24 No. 6, pp. 950-967.
- Greckhamer, T., Misangyi, V. F., Elms, H. and Lacey, R. (2008), "Using qualitative comparative analysis in strategic management research: an examination of combinations of industry, corporate, and business-unit effects", *Organizational Research Methods*, Vol. 11 No. 4, pp. 695-726.
- Grilo, A. and Jardim-Goncalves, R. (2010), "Value proposition on interoperability of BIM and collaborative working environments", *Automation in Construction*, Vol. 19 No. 5, pp. 522-530.
- Gurevich, U. and Sacks, R. (2020), "Longitudinal study of BIM adoption by public construction clients", *Journal of Management in Engineering*, Vol. 36 No. 4, pp.

05020008.

- Guo, X., Xiao, B. and Song, L. (2020), "Emission reduction and energy-intensity enhancement: the expected and unexpected consequences of China's coal consumption constraint policy", *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 271 pp. 122691.
- Hamma-Adama, M. and Kouider, T. (2019), "Comparative analysis of BIM adoption efforts by developed countries as precedent for new adopter countries", Current Journal of Applied Science and Technology, Vol. 36 No. 2, pp. 1-15.
- Hanna, A., Boodai, F. and El Asmar, M. (2013), "State of practice of building information modeling in mechanical and electrical construction industries", Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, Vol. 139 No. 10, pp. 04013009.
- Hartmann T, Gao J, Fischer M. Areas of application for 3D and 4D models on construction projects[J]. Journal of Construction Engineering and management, 2008, 134(10): 776-785.
- Heckman, J. J., Ichimura, H. and Todd, P. (1998), "Matching as an econometric evaluation estimator", *The review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 65 No. 2, pp. 261-294.
- Heckman, J. J., Ichimura, H. and Todd, P. E. (1997), "Matching as an econometric evaluation estimator: evidence from evaluating a job training programme", *The Review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 64 No. 4, pp. 605-654.
- Hochscheid, E. and Halin, G. (2020), "Generic and SME-specific factors that influence the BIM adoption process: an overview that highlights gaps in the literature", Frontiers of Engineering Management, Vol. 7 No. 1, pp. 119-130.
- Hong, Y., Hammad, A. W., Sepasgozar, S. and Akbarnezhad, A. (2019), "BIM adoption model for small and medium construction organisations in Australia", *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management,* Vol. 26 No. 2, pp. 154-183.
- Hosseini, M., Banihashemi, S., Chileshe, N., Namzadi, M. O., Udaeja, C., Rameezdeen, R. and Mccuen, T. (2016), "BIM adoption within Australian Small and Mediumsized Enterprises (SMEs): an innovation diffusion model", *Construction Economics and Building*, Vol. 16 No. 3, pp. 71-86.
- Jaaron, A. A., Hijazi, I. H. and Musleh, K. I. Y. (2022), "A conceptual model for adoption of BIM in construction projects: ADKAR as an integrative model of change management", *Technology Analysis and Strategic Management*, Vol. 34 No. 6, pp. 655-667.
- Jiao, W. and Boons, F. (2014), "Toward a research agenda for policy intervention and facilitation to enhance industrial symbiosis based on a comprehensive literature review", *Journal of Cleaner Production*, Vol. 67 pp. 14-25.
- Juan, Y.-K., Lai, W.-Y. and Shih, S.-G. (2017), "Building information modeling acceptance and readiness assessment in Taiwanese architectural firms", Journal of Civil Engineering and Management, Vol. 23 No. 3, pp. 356-367.
- Jung, W. and Lee, G. (2016), "Slim BIM charts for rapidly visualizing and quantifying levels of BIM adoption and implementation", Journal of Computing in Civil

Engineering, Vol. 30 No. 4, pp. 04015072.

- Kassem, M. and Succar, B. (2017), "Macro BIM adoption: comparative market analysis", *Automation in Construction*, Vol. 81 pp. 286-299.
- Kim, H.-S., Kim, S.-K. and Kang, L.-S. (2021), "BIM performance assessment system using a K-means clustering algorithm", *Journal of Asian Architecture and Building Engineering*, Vol. 20 No. 1, pp. 78-87.
- Lee, G. and Borrmann, A. (2020), "BIM policy and management", *Construction Management and Economics*, Vol. 38 No. 5, pp. 413-419.
- Li, P., Zheng, S., Si, H. and Xu, K. (2019), "Critical challenges for BIM adoption in small and medium-sized enterprises: evidence from China", *Advances in Civil Engineering*, Vol. 2019 pp. 1-14.
- Li, X., Wu, P., Shen, G. Q., Wang, X. and Teng, Y. (2017), "Mapping the knowledge domains of Building Information Modeling (BIM): a bibliometric approach", *Automation in Construction*, Vol. 84 pp. 195-206.
- Liu, H., Al-Hussein, M. and Lu, M. (2015), "BIM-based integrated approach for detailed construction scheduling under resource constraints", Automation in Construction, Vol. 53 pp. 29-43.
- Liu, S., Xie, B., Tivendal, L. and Liu, C. (2015), "The driving force of government in promoting BIM implementation", *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, Vol. 5 No. 4 pp. 157-164.
- Lu, N. and Korman, T. (2010), "Implementation of building information modeling (BIM) in modular construction: benefits and challenges", Construction Research Congress 2010: Innovation for reshaping construction practice, Banff, pp. 1136-1145.
- Makabate, C. T., Musonda, I., Okoro, C. S. and Chileshe, N. (2022), "Scientometric analysis of BIM adoption by SMEs in the architecture, construction and engineering sector", *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, Vol. 29 No. 1, pp. 179-203.
- Manley, K. (2008), "Against the odds: Small firms in Australia successfully introducing new technology on construction projects", *Research Policy*, Vol. 37 No. 10, pp. 1751-1764.
- McGraw Hill Construction (2009), "The Business Value of BIM-getting Building Information Modeling to the Bottom Line", available at: <u>https://www.scribd.com/document/463225000/final-2009-bim-smartmarket-</u> report-pdf (accessed 8 February 2023).
- Mikalef, P. and Pateli, A. (2017), "Information technology-enabled dynamic capabilities and their indirect effect on competitive performance: findings from PLS-SEM and fsQCA", *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 70 No. pp. 1-16.
- Milgrom, P. and Roberts, J. (1995), "Complementarities and fit strategy, structure, and organizational change in manufacturing", *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 19 No. 2-3, pp. 179-208.
- Misangyi, V. F. and Acharya, A. G. (2014), "Substitutes or complements? A configurational examination of corporate governance mechanisms", *Academy* of Management Journal, Vol. 57 No. 6, pp. 1681-1705.

- Mom, M., Tsai, M.-H. and Hsieh, S.-H. (2014), "Developing critical success factors for the assessment of BIM technology adoption: Part II. Analysis and results", *Journal of the Chinese Institute of Engineers*, Vol. 37 No. 7, pp. 859-868.
- Murguia, D., Demian, P. and Soetanto, R. (2021), "The role of the industry's culturalcognitive elements on actors' intention to adopt BIM: an empirical study in Peru", *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, Vol. aheadof-print No. ahead-of-print.
- National Building Specification (NBS) (2016), "NBS National BIM Report 2016", available at: <u>https://www.thenbs.com/knowledge/national-bim-report-2016</u>
- National Building Specification (NBS) (2017), "NBS National BIM Report 2017", available at: <u>https://www.thenbs.com/knowledge/nbs-national-bim-report-2017</u>
- National Building Specification (NBS) (2018), "NBS National BIM Report 2018", available at: <u>https://www.thenbs.com/knowledge/national-constructioncontracts-and-law-report-2018</u>
- National Building Specification (NBS) (2020), "NBS National BIM Report 2020", available at: <u>https://www.thenbs.com/knowledge/national-bim-report-2020</u>.
- NFB (National Federation of Builders (2015), *BIM: Shaping the Future of Construction, The National Federation of Builders (NBF)*, West Sussex.
- Ogrezeanu, A. (2015), "Models of technology adoption: an integrative approach", *Network Intelligence Studies*, Vol. 3 No. 5, pp. 55-67.
- Okakpu, A., Ghaffarianhoseini, A., Tookey, J., Haar, J., Ghaffarianhoseini, A. and Rehman, A. (2018), "A proposed framework to investigate effective BIM adoption for refurbishment of building projects", *Architectural Science Review*, Vol. 61 No. 6, pp. 467-479.
- Oke, A., Burke, G. and Myers, A. (2007), "Innovation types and performance in growing UK SMEs", *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*, Vol. 27 No. 7, pp. 735-753.
- Ordanini A, Parasuraman A, Rubera G. When the recipe is more important than the ingredients: A qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) of service innovation configurations[J]. Journal of service research, 2014, 17(2): 134-149.
- Olugboyega, O. and Windapo, A. (2019), "A comprehensive BIM implementation model for developing countries: comprehensive BIM implementation model", *Journal of Construction Project Management and Innovation*, Vol. 9 No. 2, pp. 83-104.
- Ozorhon, B. and Karahan, U. (2017), "Critical success factors of building information modeling implementation", *Journal of Management in Engineering*, Vol. 33 No. 3, pp. 04016054.
- Olanrewaju, O. I., Kineber, A. F., Chileshe, N. and Edwards, D. J. (2022), "Modelling the relationship between Building Information Modelling (BIM) implementation barriers, usage and awareness on building project lifecycle", *Building and Environment*, Vol. 207 pp. 108556.
- Oti-Sarpong, K., Leiringer, R. and Zhang, S. (2020), "A critical examination of BIM policy mandates: implications and responses". *Construction Research Congress* 2020: Computer Applications, 2020. American Society of Civil Engineers
Reston, VA, pp.763-772.

- Papadonikolaki, E. (2018), "Loosely coupled systems of innovation: aligning BIM adoption with implementation in Dutch construction", Journal of Management in Engineering, Vol. 34 No. 6, pp. 05018009.
- Pappas, I., Mikalef, P., Giannakos, M. and Pavlou, P. (2017), "Value co-creation and trust in social commerce: An fsQCA approach", in Proceedings of the 25th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS), Guimarães, Portugal, 5-10, June, pp. 2153-2168.
- Poirier, E., Staub-French, S. and Forgues, D. (2015), "Embedded contexts of innovation: BIM adoption and implementation for a specialty contracting SME", Construction Innovation, Vol. 15 No. 1, pp. 42-65.
- Premkumar, G. and Roberts, M. (1999), "Adoption of new information technologies in rural small businesses", Omega, Vol. 27 No. 4, pp. 467-484.
- Qin, X., Shi, Y., Lyu, K. and Mo, Y. (2020), "Using a TAM-TOE model to explore factors of Building Information Modelling (BIM) adoption in the construction industry", Journal of Civil Engineering and Management, Vol. 26 No. 3, pp. 259-277.
- Ragin, C. C. (1987). The Comparative Method. Moving beyond Qualitative and Quantitative Strategies. Berkeley, Los Angeles, and London: University of California Press.
- Ragin, C. C. 2000. Fuzzy-Set Social Science, University of Chicago Press.
- Ragin, C. C. 2008. Redesigning Social Inquiry: Fuzzy Sets and Beyond, University of Chicago Press.
- Ragin, C.C and Davey, S. (2016). fs/QCA [Computer Programme], version 3.0. University of California, Irvine, CA.
- Reizgevičius, M., Ustinovičius, L., Cibulskienė, D., Kutut, V. and Nazarko, L. (2018),
  "Promoting sustainability through investment in Building Information Modeling (BIM) technologies: a design company perspective", *Sustainability*, Vol. 10 No. 3, pp. 600.
- Rihoux, B., Rezsöhazy, I. and Bol, D. (2011), "Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) in public policy analysis: an extensive review", German Policy Studies, Vol. 7 No. 3, pp.9-82.
- Rosenbaum, P. R. and Rubin, D. B. (1983), "The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects", *Biometrika*, Vol. 70 No. 1, pp. 41-55.
- Rosenbaum, P. R. and Rubin, D. B. (1985), "Constructing a control group using multivariate matched sampling methods that incorporate the propensity score", *The American Statistician*, Vol. 39 No. 1, pp. 33-38.
- Saka, A. B. and Chan, D. W. (2020), "Profound barriers to building information modelling (BIM) adoption in construction small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs): An interpretive structural modelling approach", *Construction Innovation*, Vol. 20 No.2, pp. 261-284.
- Saka, A. B. and Chan, D. W. (2022), "A contextualist perspective to drivers of BIM in the architecture, engineering and construction (AEC) industry", International Journal of Construction Management, pp. 1-11.

- Saka, A. B., Chan, D. W. and Wuni, I. Y. (2022), "Knowledge-based decision support for BIM adoption by small and medium-sized enterprises in developing economies", Automation in Construction, Vol. 141 pp. 104407.
- Schneider, C. Q. and Wagemann, C. (2012), Set-Theoretic Methods for the Social Sciences: A guide to Qualitative Comparative Analysis, Cambridge University Press.
- Schneider, M. R., Schulze-Bentrop, C. and Paunescu, M. (2010), "Mapping the institutional capital of high-tech firms: a fuzzy-set analysis of capitalist variety and export performance", Journal of International Business Studies, Vol. 41 pp. 246-266.
- Sebastian, R. (2011), "Changing roles of the clients, architects and contractors through BIM", *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, Vol.18 No.2, pp. 176-187.
- Sexton, M. and Barrett, P. (2003), "Appropriate innovation in small construction firms", Construction Management and Economics, Vol. 21 No. 6, pp. 623-633.
- Smits, W., Van Buiten, M. and Hartmann, T. (2017), "Yield-to-BIM: impacts of BIM maturity on project performance", *Building Research And Information*, Vol. 45 No. 3, pp. 336-346.
- Sompolgrunk, A., Banihashemi, S. and Mohandes, S. R. (2023), "Building information modelling (BIM) and the return on investment: a systematic analysis", *Construction Innovation*, Vol. 23 No. 1, pp. 129-154.
- Steel, J., Drogemuller, R. and Toth, B. (2012), "Model interoperability in building information modelling", Software and Systems Modeling, Vol. 11 pp. 99-109.
- Stuart, E. A. (2010), "Matching methods for causal inference: a review and a look forward", Statistical Science: A Review Journal of the Institute of Mathematical Statistics, Vol. 25 No. 1, pp. 1-21
- Stuart, E. A., Huskamp, H. A., Duckworth, K., Simmons, J., Song, Z., Chernew, M. E. and Barry, C. L. (2014), "Using propensity scores in difference-in-differences models to estimate the effects of a policy change", *Health Services and Outcomes Research Methodology*, Vol. 14 No.4 pp. 166-182.
- Stuart, E. A.and Rubin, D. B. (2008), "Best practices in quasi-experimental designs", Jason W. Osborne, J. W. (Ed.), *Best Practices in Quantitative Methods*, Sage Publications, California, pp. 155-176.
- Suermann, P. C. (2009), "Evaluating the impact of building information modeling (BIM) on construction", University of Florida.
- Tornatzky, L. G., Fleischer, M. and Chakrabarti, A. K. (1990), Processes of Technological Innovation, Lexington Books, Maryland.
- Tuckwood, B. (2016), "A BIM Mandate", available at: <u>http://www.tuckwood.co.uk/blog/a-bim-m.htm</u> (accessed 8 February 2023).
- Vandenberghe, V. and Robin, S. (2004), "Evaluating the effectiveness of private education across countries: a comparison of methods", *Labour Economics*, Vol. 11 No. 4, pp. 487-506.
- Vidalakis, C., Abanda, F. H. and Oti, A. H. (2020), "BIM adoption and implementation: focusing on SMEs", *Construction Innovation*, Vol. 20 No. 1, pp. 128-147.

- Vigneshwar, R., Shanmugapriya, S. and Sindhu Vaardini, U. (2022), "Analyzing the driving factors of BIM adoption based on the perception of the practitioners in Indian construction projects", Iranian Journal of Science and Technology, Transactions of Civil Engineering, Vol. 46 No. 3, pp. 2637-2648.
- Volk, R., Stengel, J. and Schultmann, F. (2014), "Building Information Modeling (BIM) for existing buildings—Literature review and future needs", Automation in Construction, Vol. 38 pp. 109-127.
- Wang, J., Ran, M., Li, Y. and Zhan, H. (2022), "Is venture capital a catalyst for innovative entrepreneurship in China? Empirical analysis based on the PSM-DID method", *Managerial and Decision Economics*, Vol. 43 No. 4, pp. 1039-1058.
- Weygant, R. S. (2011), BIM Content Development: Standards, Strategies, and Best Practices, John Wiley & Sons, NJ.
- Wong, A. K., Wong, F. K. and Nadeem, A. (2011), "Government roles in implementing building information modelling systems: comparison between Hong Kong and the United States", *Construction Innovation*, Vol.11 No.1 pp. 61-76
- Wu, Z., Jiang, M., Li, H., Luo, X. and Li, X. (2021), "Investigating the critical factors of professionals' BIM adoption behavior based on the theory of planned behavior", International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, Vol. 18 No. 6, pp. 3022.
- Xu, Y., Chong, H.-Y. and Chi, M. (2022), "Impact of contractual flexibility on BIMenabled PPP project performance during the construction phase", *Journal of Infrastructure Systems*, Vol. 28 No. 1, pp. 04021057.
- Yang, J.-B.and Chou, H.-Y. (2018), "Mixed approach to government BIM implementation policy: an empirical study of Taiwan", *Journal of Building Engineering*, Vol. 20 pp. 337-343.
- Young, N. W. J., Jones, S. A., and Bernstein, H. M. (2007). Interoperability in the Construction Industry, McGraw Hill Construction, Bedford, MA.
- Yu, C., Kang, J., Teng, J., Long, H. and Fu, Y. (2021), "Does coal-to-gas policy reduce air pollution? evidence from a quasi-natural experiment in China", *Science of the Total Environment*, Vol. 773 pp. 144645.
- Yuan, H. and Yang, Y. (2020), "BIM adoption under government subsidy: technology diffusion perspective", *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, Vol. 146 No. 1, pp. 04019089.
- Yuan, H., Yang, Y. and Xue, X. (2019), "Promoting owners' BIM adoption behaviors to achieve sustainable project management", Sustainability, Vol. 11 No. 14, pp. 3905.
- Zahrizan, Z., Ali, N. M., Haron, A. T., Marshall-Ponting, A. and Hamid, Z. (2013), "Exploring the adoption of Building Information Modelling (BIM) in the Malaysian construction industry: A qualitative approach", International Journal
- Zang, J., Wan, L., Li, Z., Wang, C. and Wang, S. (2020), "Does emission trading scheme have spillover effect on industrial structure upgrading? evidence from the EU based on a PSM-DID approach", *Environmental Science and Pollution* Research, Vol. 27 No.11 pp. 12345-12357.

- Zhang, R., Tang, Y., Wang, L. and Wang, Z. (2020), "Factors influencing BIM adoption for construction enterprises in China", Advances in Civil Engineering, Vol. 2020 pp. 1-15.
- Zhao, X., Wu, P. and Wang, X. (2018), "Risk paths in BIM adoption: empirical study of China", Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, Vol. 25 No. 9, pp. 1170-1187.

## **Details of the Public Dissemination**

The results of the research obtained in this project are summarized in three papers,

which have been submitted for review. The details of the three papers are listed in Table

15. Meanwhile, the research team has attended an international symposium to share the

findings of this project with academia and industry.

Symposium: Multiculturism and Multimodality in Architecture: 1st AKAN Symposium *Date:* 25 August 2022

Venue (Hybrid): Room No. 707 at Advanced Materials & Chemical Engineering Building, Hanyang Univ.

Presentation Title: Dynamic evolution of collaboration network on BIM-based projects in Hong Kong

|     | -  |  |
|-----|--|--|
| No. | Title  | Name of Journal  |
| 1.  | Exploring the impact of policy<br>interventions on project performance<br>through a PSM-DID approach: Evidence<br>from the Hong Kong construction industry                           | Engineering, Construction,<br>and Architectural Management<br>(under review) |
| 2.  | Investigating the adoption of Building<br>Information Modelling of small-medium<br>sized organizations in the Hong Kong<br>construction industry from a configuration<br>perspective | Journal of Building<br>Engineering (under review)                            |
| 3.  | System dynamics model based on<br>dynamic evolutionary game theory for the<br>behavior of BIM implementation among<br>construction stakeholders: Case in Hong<br>Kong                | Journal of Management in<br>Engineering (under review)                       |
|     | List of Symposiu   | m  |

#### Table 15 Research Outputs

List of Journal Paper

#### list of Symposium

The symposium detail can be found through the following link, and the poster of the conference has been attached in Appendix C https://auskorarch.net/symposium/

# Appendices

## Appendix A. Questionnaire Suvery\_Part I



#### Survey on Policy Interventions on the BIM Adoption Status in Hong Kong

Dear Sir or Madam,

As a milestone technology to parametrically model and integrative manage project lifecycle information, Building Information Modeling (BIM) has drawn increasing interest from construction practitioners over the past decade. Aware of the tremendous revolution that BIM has brought to the traditional construction industry, the Hong Kong Government issued the first mandatory policy on adopting BIM for Capital Works Projects in 2018. Financially supported by the Public Policy Research Funding Scheme from the Hong Kong government (Grant No. 2021.A6.173.21B), this investigation aims to evaluate the policy interventions on the BIM adoption status in Hong Kong. Given your expertise and experience related to BIM, you are cordially invited to spare your precious time to participate in our questionnaire survey.

Please answer the questions based on the information of BIM-based projects in your company/organization, and all the answers should be based on the situations in Hong Kong. It will take you about 10~20 minutes to complete the questionnaire. All collected data will be used only for academic purposes, and the information related to specific projects and respondents will be strictly confidential. It would be appreciated if you could return the answer sheet directly to this Email (**krystal.li@polyu.edu.hk**). If you are interested in the research results, we will send you an electronic copy of the research report upon the accomplishment of this research. We greatly appreciate your support for our research!

Yours sincerely,

Heng Li, Chair Professor

Tel: (852) 2766 5803 Fax: (852) 2364 9322

Email: heng.li@polyu.edu.hk

Smart Construction Laboratory, ZN1002, Block Z

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

#### Part I: Basic Information about Organizational Characteristics

1. Role of your company/organization: ( )

A. Main contractor B. Designer C. Client

2. Approximate number of full-time employees in your company/organization yearly:

| Year   | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Number |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

)

3. Ownership type of your company/organization: (

A. Multi-national Company B. Local Company

4. The year around which BIM was **firstly used** in your company/organization:

5. Approximate percentage of projects in your company/organization using BIM yearly:

| Year | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| %    |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

6. The establishment year of your company: \_\_\_\_\_

#### Part II: Organizational Capability Relating to BIM Implementation

**Justification**: Please indicate how BIM was implemented in your company/organization according to the list areas. The extent to which you agree with the listed statements regarding the BIM implementation practice in your company/organization, you can use " $\sqrt{}$ " to mark your response.

If you have implemented the BIM functions, please select "Y" (for Yes) and then specify the status of your implementation practice yearly, "0" (not use), "1" (some use), and "2" (extensive use).

If you haven't implemented the function, you can select **"N" (for No) and directly move to the next option**. [For more detailed explanations of the lasted are, please refer to *"CIC BIM Standards - General (Version 2.1 - 2021)*]

|     | <b>BIM Implementation Areas</b>   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 | Prac           |                  | ctice          |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
|-----|---|------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|----------------|--------------------------|-----------------|----------------|------------------|----------------|-----------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|---|---|------|---|
| [Y  | ou cou  | ld u                         | se <u>"</u>           | <u>'√"</u> t                | o ma                       | ark y                        | our                 | resp                 | ons            | e.]                      |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              | Y |   | N    | 1 |
|     | <u>Design Phase</u>   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| 01  | <b>Design</b><br>represe  | Au<br>nt d                   | t <i>hor</i><br>iffer | <i>ing</i> :<br>ent b       | Utili<br>uild              | ize B<br>ing s               | IM<br>yste          | soft<br>ems (        | ware           | to de<br>e proj          | esign<br>ject   | and            | three            | e-dir          | nensi           | iona         | ully (       | 3D)          |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | 'ear  |                              | 201                   | 5                           | ,                          | 2016                         |                     |                      | 201            | 7                        | ,               | 2018           | 8                |                | 2019            |              |              | 2020         | 0 |   | 2021 | 1 |
| St  | tatus   | 0                            | 1                     | 2                           | 0                          | 1                            | 2                   | 0                    | 1              | 2                        | 0               | 1              | 2                | 0              | 1               | 2            | 0            | 1            | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| 02  | <i>Design</i><br>and to v   | <b>Re</b><br>valic           | <i>view</i><br>late   | s: Ro<br>relat              | elate<br>ed d              | d sta<br>etails              | keł<br>s of         | l<br>olde<br>the p   | ers re         | eview                    | BIM             | l mo<br>n      | dels             | to p           | provi           | de f         | eedb         | ack          |   |   |      | l |
| Y   | 'ear  |                              | 201                   | 5                           |                            | 2016                         |                     |                      | 201'           | 7                        |                 | 2018           | }                |                | 2019            |              |              | 2020         | 0 |   | 2021 | 1 |
| St  | tatus   | 0                            | 1                     | 2                           | 0                          | 1                            | 2                   | 0                    | 1              | 2                        | 0               | 1              | 2                | 0              | 1               | 2            | 0            | 1            | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| 03  | Draw<br>plan<br>const   | v <b>ing</b><br>viev<br>ruct | Gen<br>vai            | <i>ierat</i><br>nd e<br>and | <i>ion</i><br>leva<br>shop | ( <b>Dra</b><br>tion<br>drav | win<br>vie<br>vin   | g Pr<br>w fo         | odu<br>or st   | c <i>tion)</i><br>tatuto | ): Uti<br>ry si | lize<br>1bmi   | BIM              | sof<br>1, te   | tware<br>ender  | to<br>dr     | prep<br>awin | are<br>Igs,  |   | I |      |   |
| Y   | 'ear  |                              | 201                   | 5                           |                            | 2016                         |                     |                      | 201'           | 7                        | ,               | 2018           | ;                |                | 2019            |              |              | 2020         | 0 |   | 2021 | 1 |
| St  | tatus   | 0                            | 1                     | 2                           | 0                          | 1                            | 2                   | 0                    | 1              | 2                        | 0               | 1              | 2                | 0              | 1               | 2            | 0            | 1            | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| 04  | <i>Exist</i> condi  | <i>ing</i><br>ition          | <i>Cor</i><br>s wi    | <i>nditic</i><br>th th      | o <i>ns</i><br>e he        | <i>Mod</i><br>lp of          | elli<br>las         | ng:<br>er sc         | Deve<br>anni   | elop<br>ng or            | a 3D<br>conv    | mo             | del<br>onal s    | of t<br>surv   | he e<br>ey m    | xist<br>eth  | ing s<br>ods | site         |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | 'ear  |                              | 201                   | 5                           |                            | 2016                         |                     |                      | 201'           | 7                        | ,               | 2018           | 6                |                | 2019            |              |              | 2020         | 0 |   | 2021 | l |
| St  | tatus   | 0                            | 1                     | 2                           | 0                          | 1                            | 2                   | 0                    | 1              | 2                        | 0               | 1              | 2                | 0              | 1               | 2            | 0            | 1            | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| 05  | <i>Site</i> A in a g  | 1 <i>nal</i><br>iver         | <i>ysis</i><br>are    | <i>in th</i><br>a to (      | <i>e De</i><br>deter       | e <b>sign</b><br>rmine       | e <b>Ph</b><br>e th | <i>ase</i> :<br>e mo | Utili<br>st op | ze BI<br>otimal          | M/G<br>site     | IS to<br>locat | ols to<br>tion f | o eva<br>for t | aluato<br>he fu | e pr<br>ture | oper<br>proj | ties<br>ject |   | 1 |      | I |
| Y   | 'ear  |                              | 201                   | 5                           | ,                          | 2016                         |                     |                      | 201'           | 7                        |                 | 2018           | ;                |                | 2019            |              |              | 2020         | 0 |   | 2021 | 1 |
| St  | tatus   | 0                            | 1                     | 2                           | 0                          | 1                            | 2                   | 0                    | 1              | 2                        | 0               | 1              | 2                | 0              | 1               | 2            | 0            | 1            | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| 06  | <ul> <li>Spatial Coordination in the Analysis Phase: Utilize BIM software to eliminate</li> <li>design errors before the construction of the project, such as checks for spatial</li> <li>and headroom requirements, working spaces for building operations, and</li> <li>maintenance activities</li> </ul> |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | Year         2015         2016         2017         2018         2019         2020         2021   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |
| St  | tatus   | 0                            | 1                     | 2                           | 0                          | 1                            | 2                   | 0                    | 1              | 2                        | 0               | 1              | 2                | 0              | 1               | 2            | 0            | 1            | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse   |                              |                       |                             |                            |                              |                     |                      |                |                          |                 |                |                  |                |                 |              |              |              |   |   |      |   |

| 07   | Engi                      | neer                                  | ing                      | Ana                          | lysis                     | : Uti                       | lize                | BIM            | l sof          | Ìware                     | e to as                        | ssist,         | anal                   | yze         | and            |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
|------|---------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|----------------|----------------|---------------------------|--------------------------------|----------------|------------------------|-------------|----------------|--------------|---------------|--------------|---|-----|------|---|
| V    | ontim                     | ize                                   | diff                     | erent                        | des                       | ion (                       | nti                 | ons t          | o de           | termi                     | ne th                          | e m            | ost_e                  | ffec        | tive e         | noi          | neer          | ing          |   |     | 2021 |   |
| Y    | ear                       |                                       | 201:                     | 5                            |                           | 2016                        |                     | -              | 201            | /                         |                                | 2018           |                        | 0           | 2019           |              | 0             | 2020         | ) | 0   | 2021 |   |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | l              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | I    | 2 |
| Resp | ponse                     |                                       |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     |                |                |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| 08   | <i>Facil</i><br>of a p    | <i>ity E</i><br>roje                  | Ener<br>ct de            | <b>gy</b> A<br>esign         | <i>naly</i><br>to o       | <i>sis</i> :<br>ptim        | Util<br>ize         | ize E<br>the d | BIM            | softw<br>n to re          | are to<br>educe                | e ene          | nduct<br>rgy c         | ene<br>osts | rgy a<br>henc  | sse:<br>e li | ssme<br>fe cy | nts<br>cle   |   |     |      |   |
| Y    | ear                       | ,                                     | 201                      | 5                            |                           | 2016                        |                     |                | 2017           | 7                         | ,                              | 2018           | 5                      |             | 2019           |              |               | 2020         | ) |     | 2021 | 1 |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | 1              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | 1    | 2 |
| Resp | ponse                     |                                       |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     |                |                |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
|      |                           |                                       |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     | (              | Con            | struc                     | tion                           | Pha            | ase                    |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| 01   | Phase                     | e P                                   | lann                     | ing                          | (4D                       | Mo                          | dell                | ing)           | : De           | evelor                    | 5 4D                           | mo             | dels                   | bas         | ed o           | n s          | ched          | ule          |   |     |      |   |
| 01   | inform                    | nati                                  | on te                    | o vis                        | ualiz                     | ze an                       | d ar                | nalyz          | e the          | e sequ                    | ience                          | of c           | onsti                  | ructi       | on ac          | ctivi        | ities         |              |   |     |      |   |
| Y    | ear                       |                                       | 201                      | 5                            | ,<br>,                    | 2016                        |                     |                | 2017           | 7                         |                                | 2018           | ;                      |             | 2019           |              |               | 2020         | ) |     | 2021 | l |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | 1              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | 1    | 2 |
| Resp | ponse                     |                                       |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     |                |                |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| 02   | <i>Digite</i><br>Mode     | al F<br>el                            | Tabri                    | icatio                       | <b>on</b> :               | Digit                       | alis                | ing            | the o          | consti                    | ructio                         | on de          | etails                 | in          | the I          | nfo          | rmat          | ion          |   |     |      |   |
| Y    | ear                       | ,                                     | 201                      | 5                            |                           | 2016                        |                     |                | 2017           | 7                         | ,                              | 2018           | 6                      |             | 2019           |              |               | 2020         | ) |     | 2021 | 1 |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | 1              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | 1    | 2 |
| Resp | ponse                     |                                       |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     |                |                |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| 03   | <i>3D C</i> as the        | ontr<br>pos                           | ol a<br>sition           | <i>nd P</i><br>n and         | <i>lann</i><br>1 der      | ing:<br>oth o               | Uti<br>f ele        | lize l<br>emen | BIM            | mode                      | els to                         | layo           | ut pr                  | ojec        | t eler         | nen          | ts, sı        | uch          |   | 1   |      | 1 |
| Y    | ear                       | 1                                     | 201:                     | 5                            |                           | 2016                        |                     |                | 201            | 7                         | ,                              | 2018           | ;                      |             | 2019           |              |               | 2020         | ) | 202 |      | 1 |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | 1              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | 1    | 2 |
| Resp | ponse                     |                                       |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     |                |                |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| 04   | Cons<br>suppl             | <i>truc</i><br>eme                    | <i>tion</i><br>ntar      | <i>Sysi</i><br>y coi         | t <b>em</b><br>nstru      | <i>Desi</i><br>action       | <b>gn</b> :<br>1 sy | Util<br>stem   | ize l<br>is to | BIM :<br>optin            | mode<br>nize t                 | els to<br>he p | o des<br>lanni         | ign<br>ng រ | and a<br>and c | anal<br>ons  | yze<br>truct  | the<br>ion   |   |     |      |   |
|      | proce                     | SS                                    |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     |                |                |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| Y    | ear                       |                                       | 201                      | 5                            |                           | 2016                        |                     |                | 201            | 7                         |                                | 2018           | 8                      |             | 2019           |              |               | 2020         | ) |     | 2021 | l |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | 1              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | 1    | 2 |
| Kes  | Conse                     | truc                                  | tion                     | 0                            | uali                      | fiy <sup>7</sup>            | Mar                 | 1100           | mon            | /• <b>⊺</b> ⊺             | tilize                         | <br>           |                        | netr        | uctio          | <br>n        | 0119          | lity         |   |     |      |   |
| 05   | Mana<br>and n             | igen<br>avig                          | nent<br>gatin            | syste<br>g of                | em (<br>Info              | CQN<br>rmat                 | IS)<br>ion          | durii<br>Mod   | ng th<br>lels  | ie con                    | istruc                         | tion           | stage                  | e to        | supp           | ort v        | view          | ing          |   |     |      |   |
| Y    | ear                       | par 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 202 |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     | 2021           | 1              |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | 1              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | 1    | 2 |
| Resi | ponse                     |                                       |                          |                              |                           |                             |                     |                |                |                           |                                |                |                        |             |                |              |               |              |   |     |      |   |
| 06   | As-Ba<br>constr<br>enviro | <i>uilt</i><br>ruct                   | <i>Mo</i><br>ion<br>ent, | <i>delli</i><br>recor<br>and | <i>ng</i><br>rd n<br>asse | <i>and</i><br>node<br>ts of | As<br>l to<br>the   | set<br>acc     | Info<br>surate | ormat<br>ely ro<br>ted fa | <i>ion</i><br>epres<br>icility | Moa<br>ent     | <i>lellin</i><br>the p | g:<br>phys  | Crea<br>ical   | te a<br>con  | a po<br>ditio | ost-<br>ons, |   |     |      |   |
| Y    | ear                       |                                       | 2014                     | 5                            |                           | 2016                        |                     |                | 201'           | 7                         |                                | 2018           |                        |             | 2019           |              |               | 2020         | ) |     | 2021 | 1 |
| Ste  | atus                      | 0                                     | 1                        | 2                            | 0                         | 1                           | 2                   | 0              | 1              | 2                         | 0                              | 1              | 2                      | 0           | 1              | 2            | 0             | 1            | 2 | 0   | 1    | 2 |

| Res | ponse          |                     |                    |                        |                     |                       |                    |                      |                         |                         |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
|-----|----------------|---------------------|--------------------|------------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|----------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|----------------|---------------|----------------|-----------------|-------------|---------------|------------|---|---|------|---|
| 07  | Site           | Util                | isati              | ion                    | Plan                | ning                  | g: 1               | Jtiliz               | ze E                    | BIM                     | mode               | els t          | o gr          | aph            | ically          | re          | pres          | ent        |   |   |      |   |
| 0/  | perma<br>const | aner<br>ruct        | nt an<br>ion s     | id ter<br>site         | npo                 | rary                  | on-s               | site f               | acıli                   | ties t                  | o pla              | n eff          | ectiv         | e u            | tilizat         | tion        | s of          | the        |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | ear            |                     | 201:               | 5                      |                     | 2016                  |                    |                      | 201'                    | 7                       | ,                  | 2018           | ;             |                | 2019            |             |               | 2020       | 0 |   | 2021 | 1 |
| St  | atus           | 0                   | 1                  | 2                      | 0                   | 1                     | 2                  | 0                    | 1                       | 2                       | 0                  | 1              | 2             | 0              | 1               | 2           | 0             | 1          | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse          |                     |                    |                        |                     |                       |                    |                      |                         |                         |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
|     |                |                     |                    | 1                      |                     | 1                     | I                  |                      |                         | 1                       | 1                  |                | 1             | I              | 1               | I           | I             | I          | 1 | I | 1    |   |
|     |                |                     |                    |                        |                     |                       |                    |                      |                         |                         |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
|     |                |                     |                    |                        |                     |                       | D                  | esig                 | n or                    | · Con                   | istru              | ctio           | n Pł          | ase            | 2               |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
|     | 3D C           | onsi                | truci              | tion                   | Cool                | rdina                 | itio               | <b>n</b> : U1        | tilize                  | the H                   | BIM s              | softv          | vare t        | to fi          | rther           | co          | ordin         | ate        |   |   |      |   |
| 01  | the fo         | eder                | ated               | Info                   | orma                | tion                  | Mo                 | dels                 | fror                    | n the                   | desi               | gn s           | tage          | to             | the c           | ons         | truct         | ion        |   |   |      |   |
| T.  | stage          | ,                   | 301                | -                      |                     | 3017                  |                    |                      | 301/                    | -                       |                    | 3010           | •             |                | 2010            |             |               | 2020       |   |   | 2021 | 1 |
| Y   | ear            |                     | 2013               | ວ<br>                  |                     | 2016                  | 2                  | 0                    | 201                     | /                       | 0                  |                |               | 0              | 2019            | 2           | 0             | 2020       | 0 | 0 | 202  |   |
| Dog | atus           | 0                   | 1                  | 2                      | 0                   | 1                     | 2                  | 0                    | 1                       | 2                       | 0                  | 1              | 2             | 0              | 1               | 2           | 0             | 1          | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse          |                     |                    |                        |                     |                       |                    |                      |                         | .1 T                    |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
| 02  | Exist          | ing                 | Con                | ditio                  | ns N                | /lode                 | llın               | g: Ut                | ilize                   | the H                   | 3IM s              | softw          | are t         | o cr           | eate a          | a 31        | ) mo          | del        |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | ear            |                     | 201:               | 5                      | ,                   | 2016                  |                    |                      | 201'                    | 7                       |                    | 2018           | 5             |                | 2019            |             |               | 202        | 0 |   | 2021 | l |
| St  | atus           | 0                   | 1                  | 2                      | 0                   | 1                     | 2                  | 0                    | 1                       | 2                       | 0                  | 1              | 2             | 0              | 1               | 2           | 0             | 1          | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse          |                     |                    |                        |                     |                       |                    |                      |                         |                         |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
| 03  | Buila<br>comp  | <i>ling</i><br>lian | <i>Соа</i><br>се w | <i>le Cl</i><br>vith b | <i>ieck</i><br>uild | <i>ing (</i><br>ing c | <i>ind</i><br>ode  | <i>Vali</i><br>s and | i <i>dati</i><br>I regi | <i>on</i> : U<br>ulatio | Utilize<br>ons the | e the<br>at ap | BIM<br>plv to | [ so:<br>o the | ftwar<br>e proi | e to<br>ect | revi<br>throu | ew<br>19h  |   |   |      |   |
|     | one o          | r mo                | ore I              | nfor                   | mati                | on N                  | lode               | els.                 |                         | _                       |                    | r              | F-J           |                | - FJ            |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | ear            |                     | 201:               | 5                      |                     | 2016                  |                    |                      | 201'                    | 7                       |                    | 2018           | 8             | 0              | 2019            |             |               | 2020       | 0 | 0 | 2021 |   |
| St  | atus           | 0                   | 1                  | 2                      | 0                   | 1                     | 2                  | 0                    | 1                       | 2                       | 0                  | I              | 2             | 0              | 1               | 2           | 0             | 1          | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Kes | ponse          | Eati                |                    |                        | 14:12               |                       | D.                 | n o d                |                         |                         |                    |                | noto a        |                | +:++            |             | off           | and a      |   |   |      |   |
| 04  | cost e         | estin               | matir<br>natir     | ng in                  | the                 | desig                 | gn p               | hase                 | , and                   | 1 5D                    | mode               | eling          | /cash         | fluar<br>flo   | w foi           | reca        | sting         | g in       |   |   |      |   |
|     | the co         | onsti               | ructi              | on p                   | hase                | :                     |                    |                      |                         |                         |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | ear            |                     | 201:               | 5                      | Ĩ                   | 2016                  | r                  |                      | 201'                    | 7                       |                    | 2018           | 8             |                | 2019            |             |               | 2020       | 0 |   | 2021 | 1 |
| St  | atus           | 0                   | 1                  | 2                      | 0                   | 1                     | 2                  | 0                    | 1                       | 2                       | 0                  | 1              | 2             | 0              | 1               | 2           | 0             | 1          | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse          |                     |                    | · · ·                  |                     |                       |                    | 1.11                 |                         | DI                      |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |
| 05  | Sus<br>mod     | del<br>del<br>eria  | abil<br>base       | <i>ity E</i><br>ed or  | n BE                | <i>iatio</i><br>EAM   | <i>n</i> : U<br>Pl | us, I                | te th                   | e BIN<br>D, or          | othe               | twar<br>er su  | e to<br>stain | eva<br>able    | luate<br>e/gree | the<br>en b | proj<br>ouild | ect<br>ing |   |   |      |   |
| Y   | fear           |                     | 201:               | 5                      |                     | 2016                  |                    |                      | 201'                    | 7                       |                    | 2018           | }             |                | 2019            |             |               | 2020       | 0 |   | 2021 | 1 |
| St  | atus           | 0                   | 1                  | 2                      | 0                   | 1                     | 2                  | 0                    | 1                       | 2                       | 0                  | 1              | 2             | 0              | 1               | 2           | 0             | 1          | 2 | 0 | 1    | 2 |
| Res | ponse          |                     |                    |                        |                     |                       |                    |                      |                         |                         |                    |                |               |                |                 |             |               |            |   |   |      |   |

## Part III: Organizational Performance Impacts Relating to BIM Implementation

Justification: Please refer to the <u>BIM-based public projects or BIM-based private projects</u> <u>respectively</u> in your company/organization, and indicate the extent to which you agree with the listed statements regarding the overall impact of BIM implementation on these two kinds of projects "yearly".

1. <u>Communicatie Performance</u>: Please indicate the extent to which you agree that the BIM has improved the effectiveness of the design/construction information exchanged among project participating organizations:

A. Strongly Disagree B. Disagree C. Slightly Disagree D. Neutral

| Project/Year | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Public       |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Private      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

E. Slightly Agree F. Agree G. Strongly Agree

2. <u>Cost Overrun</u>: Please indicate the level of the actual construction cost as compared with the original construction contract value in this project:

| A. Increased more than 20% | B. Increased 11–20% | C. Increased 1–10%  |
|----------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|
| D. Stayed the same         | E. Decreased 1–10%  | F. Decreased 11–20% |

G. Decreased more than 20%

\* If possible, please give a specific number after the options, e.g., C (7%)

| Project/Year | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Public       |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Private      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

3. <u>Schedule Overrun</u>: Please indicate the actual construction duration as compared with the planned construction duration (as specified in the construction contract) in this project:

A. Increased more than 20% B. Increased 11–20% C. Increased 1–10%

D. Stayed the same E. Decreased 1–10% F. Decreased 11–20%

G. Decreased more than 20%

\* If possible, please give a specific number after the options, e.g., E (-7%)

| Project/Year | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Public       |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Private      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

4. **Quality Performance**: Please indicate the extent to which the overall quality of the final delivered facility has met the client's expectations in this project:

A. Significantly below expectations B. Slightly below expectations C. Meeting expectationsD. Slightly exceeding expectationsE. Significantly exceeding expectations

| Project/Year | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 |
|--------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|
| Public       |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |
| Private      |      |      |      |      |      |      |      |

5. <u>Return of Investment (ROI)</u>: Please fill the table with the approximate benefits and investments relating to <u>BIM-based public projects or BIM-based private projects</u> <u>respectively</u> in your company.

|                      |           | Benefits from BIM-                             | Investment o                  | n BIM          |
|----------------------|-----------|--|-------------------------------|----------------|
| Year                 | / Project | based projects<br>( <i>Public or Private</i> ) | Purchase<br>Software/Hardware | Staff Training |
| <b>2</b> 01 <b>5</b> | Public    |  |                               |                |
| 2015                 | Private   |  |                               |                |
| • • • • •            | Public    |  |                               |                |
| 2016                 | Private   |  |                               |                |
|                      | Public    |  |                               |                |
| 2017                 | Private   |  |                               |                |
| 2010                 | Public    |  |                               |                |
| 2018                 | Private   |  |                               |                |
|                      | Public    |  |                               |                |
| 2019                 | Private   |  |                               |                |
| 2020                 | Public    |  |                               |                |

|      | Private |  |  |
|------|---------|--|--|
|      | Public  |  |  |
| 2021 | Private |  |  |

## End of the questionnaire.

## Thanks a lot for your support for our research!

If you are interested in the research results, please write down your email address, and we will send you an electronic copy of the research report upon the accomplishment of this research. You could also write down your suggestions on our research here:

## Appendix B. Questionnaire Suvery\_Part II



#### Survey on Factors Influencing BIM Adoption in Hong Kong

Dear Sir or Madam,

As a milestone technology to parametrically model and integrative manage project lifecycle information, Building Information Modeling (BIM) has drawn increasing interest from construction practitioners over the past decade. Aware of the tremendous revolution that BIM has brought to the traditional construction industry, the Hong Kong Government issued the first mandatory policy on adopting BIM for Capital Works Projects in 2018. Financially supported by the Public Policy Research Funding Scheme from the Hong Kong government (Grant No. 2021.A6.173.21B), this investigation aims to examine the effective combinations of conditions leading to high or low BIM adoption rates in SMOs and LOs in the Hong Kong construction industry. Given your expertise and experience related to BIM, you are cordially invited to spare your precious time to participate in our questionnaire survey.

<u>Please answer the questions based on the information of BIM-based</u> <u>projects in your company/organization, and all the answers should be</u> <u>based on the situations in Hong Kong</u>. It will take you about 10 minutes to complete the questionnaire. All of the collected data will be used only for academic purposes, and the information related to specific projects and respondents will <u>be</u> <u>kept in strict confidence</u>. If you are interested in the research results, we will send you an electronic copy of the research report upon the accomplishment of this research. We greatly appreciate your support for our research!

Yours sincerely,

Heng Li, Chair Professor Tel: (852) 2766 5803 Fax: (852) 2364 9322 E-mail: heng.li@polyu.edu.hk Smart Construction Laboratory, ZN1002, Block Z The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

### Part I: Basic Information about Organizational Characteristics

| 1. Role of your company/organization: ( )                                      |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| A. Main contractor B. Designer consultant C. Owner                             |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 2. Approximate number of full-time employees in your company/organization: ( ) |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| A. Less than 250 B. 250 or more  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 3. Ownership type of your company/organization: ( )                            |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| A. Multi-national Company B. Local Company                                     |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 4. The establishment year of your company/organization:                        |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

5. Approximate percentage of projects in your company/organization using BIM:

# Part II: Factors Relating to BIM Adoption

Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the listed statements using the following scale:

| Α  | В        | С                   | D       | Е                 |   | F     |   |   | G                 |   |   |  |
|--|----------|---------------------|---------|-------------------|---|-------|---|---|-------------------|---|---|--|
| Strongly<br>disagree   | Disagree | Disagree<br>lightly | Neutral | Slightly<br>agree |   | Agree |   |   | Strongly<br>agree |   |   |  |
| Technological Factors Relating to BIM Adoption                               |          |                     |         |                   |   |       |   |   |                   |   |   |  |
| You could use any symbol (such as " $$ ") to mark your response              |          |                     |         | Disagree > Agree  |   |       |   |   |                   |   |   |  |
| Tou could use any symbol (such us () to mark your response.                  |          |                     |         |                   | Α | B     | С | D | E                 | F | G |  |
| 1. We adopted BIM because it always performs well in improving scheduling.   |          |                     |         |                   |   |       |   |   |                   |   |   |  |
| 2. We adopted BIM because it always performs well in controlling cost        |          |                     |         |                   |   |       |   |   |                   |   |   |  |
| 3. We adopted BIM because it always performs well in enhancing collaboration |          |                     |         |                   |   |       |   |   |                   |   |   |  |

| 4. We adopted BIM because it always performs well in improving quality  |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|------------------|------------------|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| 5. It is easy for us to learn and be on top of BIM.   |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 6. BIM is easy and skillful to use to handle work tasks   |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 7. In general, it is easy to use BIM  |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| Organizational Factors Relating to BIM Adoption   |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| You could use any symbol (such as " $$ ") to mark your response   |  |                  | Disagree > Agree |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 100 could use any symbol (such as v ) to mark your response.  |  | B                | С                | D | Е | F | G |  |  |  |  |
| 1. Top managers of our company always provide a supportive climate and resources for the adoption of BIM        |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 2. Top managers of our company are highly interested in adopting BIM.   |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 3. Our company has sufficient funding for purchasing BIM-related equipment and software                         |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 4. Our company has sufficient funding for training BIM employees.   |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 5. Our team is experienced in implementing BIM  |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 6. Our team is capable of solving the possible technical problems of BIM  |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 7. Our team is equipped with the knowledge necessary for implementing BIM                                       |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 8. Our team is familiar with the benefits of BIM tools.   |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| Environmental Factors Relating to BIM Adoption  |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| You could use any symbol (such as " $$ ") to mark your response.  |  | Disagree > Agree |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
|   |  | B                | С                | D | E | F | G |  |  |  |  |
| 1. The decision to adopt BIM in our company was influenced by the mandatory policies from the government        |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |
| 2. In the face of the BIM adoption decision, mandatory policies from the government put a lot of pressure on us |  |                  |                  |   |   |   |   |  |  |  |  |

| 3. Whether competitors have adopted BIM influences the decision to adopt BIM in our firm                        |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| 4. In the face of the BIM adoption decision, competitors' BIM adoption<br>behaviors put a lot of pressure on us |  |  |  |  |  |

## End of the questionnaire.

### Thanks a lot for your support for our research!

If you are interested in the research results, please write down your email address, we will send you an electronic copy of the research report upon the accomplishment of this research. You could also write down your suggestions on our research here:



## Appendix C. Snapshots of Symposium Information

